

Australian Government

Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development, Communications and the Arts

## Corporate Plan 2022–23



#### Acknowledgment of Country

We the Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development, Communications and the Arts acknowledge the Traditional Owners and Custodians throughout Australia. We respect and celebrate the inherent strengths of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples, and their commitment to the land, waters and their communities. We pay our respects to their Elders past and present.

© Commonwealth of Australia 2022

ISSN: 2208–4223 (Online) ISBN: 978-1-922521-70-5 August 2022 / INFRA5095

#### Ownership of intellectual property rights in this publication

Unless otherwise noted, copyright (and any other intellectual property rights, if any) in this publication is owned by the Commonwealth of Australia (referred to below as the Commonwealth).

#### Disclaimer

The material contained in this publication is made available on the understanding that the Commonwealth is not providing professional advice, and that users exercise their own skill and care with respect to its use, and seek independent advice if necessary.

The Commonwealth makes no representations or warranties as to the contents or accuracy of the information contained in this publication. To the extent permitted by law, the Commonwealth disclaims liability to any person or organisation in respect of anything done, or omitted to be done, in reliance upon information contained in this publication.

#### **Creative Commons licence**



With the exception of (a) the Coat of Arms; (b) the Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development, Communications and the Arts photos and graphics copyright in this publication is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 Australia Licence.

Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 Australia Licence is a standard form licence agreement that allows you to copy, communicate and adapt this publication provided that you attribute the work to the Commonwealth and abide by the other licence terms.

Further information on the licence terms is available from <a href="https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/">https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/</a>

This publication should be attributed in the following way: ©Commonwealth of Australia 2022

#### Use of the Coat of Arms

The Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet sets the terms under which the Coat of Arms is used. Please refer to the Commonwealth Coat of Arms – Information and Guidelines publication available at Commonwealth Coat of Arms Information and Guidelines | Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet (pmc.gov.au)

#### Contact us

This publication is available in PDF format online together with the department's Portfolio Budget Statements and Annual Reports on <u>Transparency.gov.au</u> and the <u>Department's website</u>. All other rights are reserved, including in relation to any departmental logos or trademarks which may exist. For enquiries regarding the licence and any use of this publication, please contact:

Director – Governance Section Government, Ministerial and Parliamentary Branch Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development, Communications and the Arts GPO Box 594 Canberra ACT 2601 Australia

Email: planningreporting@infrastructure.gov.au

Website: www.infrastructure.gov.au

## Contents

01





#### 05

- 06 Secretary's introduction
- 10 Our operating environment
- 12 Delivering against outcomes and measuring performance



# 02

### Our performance



### 17

- 18 Transport connectivity
- 37 Regional development, northern Australia and cities
- 47 Territories
- 52 **Communications** connectivity
- 62 Creativity and culture

# 03

Governance, integrity and risk



### 75

- 76 Governance
- 77 Integrity
- 77 Fraud Control Plan
- 78 **Risk oversight and** management
- 84 Planning and reporting framework

# 04

## Our organisational culture and capability



### 87

- 90 Our people
- 90 Our values
- 91 APS values
- 92 People capability
- 94 Diversity and inclusion
- 96 Policy and program capability
- 96 Regulatory performance
- 97 Financial management
- 98 ICT capability
- 101 Data capability
- 102 Compliance with Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Rule 2014

ė



## Our department

01

•

## Secretary's introduction



Jim Betts Secretary

Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development, Communications and the Arts

# "

The work of the Department of Infrastructure, Transport, **Regional Development**, **Communications and the** Arts touches the lives of every Australian, every day. The department has a national footprint with our people working in Canberra (Ngunawal Country) and in regional areas. We have a truly national perspective in our ambition to connect Australians, enrich our communities and empower our regions.



Our 2022–23 Corporate Plan showcases how we plan to deliver across one of the most diverse portfolios in the Australian Public Service. Through the Plan, we are supporting the Australian Government's reform and recovery agenda. We will deliver through respectful and meaningful engagement across all levels of government, with our 7 Ministers, 30 portfolio entities and key industry stakeholders.

I look forward to working with people across the department and its agencies to deliver our programs, projects and services in the major infrastructure, transport, communications and arts sectors, supporting our regions, cities and territories.

Our nation building projects support economic and social development, disaster resilience and recovery, and create long-term productivity benefits for producers, businesses and communities. The department's work with each transport sector connects Australians to the world and each other. To set the scene for future growth and development we will deliver on the government's commitments to an Aviation White Paper and a Maritime Strategic Fleet.

Our portfolio will play a significant role in supporting the Government to reach its emissions reduction targets and achieve net zero, including reducing emissions in the transport sector, increasing resilience of our infrastructure and supporting our regions in the transition from fossil fuels.

Our work across the cities, rural and regional areas and Australia's territories connects and empowers communities, improves productivity and seeks to lift living standards. We will continue to coordinate and implement policies that benefit Australians where ever they live and support sustainable economic development and provide a foundation for resilient communities.

Communications service accessibility is essential to an inclusive and prosperous society. This Plan outlines how we will deliver an additional \$480 million for the NBN to better connect rural and regional areas. It also demonstrates how we will continue to work towards affordable and reliable communications and postal services across the country. The content that Australians receive through these communications services provides enormous opportunities and challenges and our progress to re-shape and reform Australia's media landscape in the digital era continues.

We are supporting the government to invigorate the creative sectors through the development of an updated National Cultural Policy that celebrates and invests in our unique arts industries and cultural institutions. This will require dialogue with our First Nations peoples to build policy and programs that are respectful of First Nations' cultural heritage, art and languages.

I am committed to fostering a diverse and inclusive workplace, and this Plan outlines not only what we will do, but how we will do it. As a first action, I am looking forward to launching our Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan, which will guide work on the Indigenous languages, culture and digital inclusion targets and priority reforms of the Closing the Gap National Agreement.

As the Accountable Authority of the Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development, Communications and the Arts, I am pleased to present the 2022–23 Corporate Plan, covering the period 2022–2026, in accordance with paragraph 35(1)(b) of the Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013.

**Jim Betts** Secretary



## Connecting Australians

## Enriching our communities

## Empowering our regions



## Our operating environment

We identify and monitor new and emerging policy, regulatory and environmental challenges to influence advice to government. We ensure our policies, programs and regulations are future focused and appropriately respond to risks, while making the most of opportunities.

We consider the key influencing trends that are likely to impact our work over the next 4 years. The pandemic, recent extreme weather and world events have accelerated these trends and, in turn, shaped the way Australia responds and adapts to living with constant change and disruption.



## Moving through the stages of COVID-19

We are committed to supporting our communities and industries as they are impacted by COVID-19. The effects of COVID–19 have been ongoing and significant, and recovery will be an evolving process. The department is taking a methodical, collaborative and consultative approach to assist affected communities and industries through all stages of the pandemic. As a 'new normal' is gradually established, we will continue looking for ways to encourage growth in those industries and communities most affected by the pandemic.





### **Climate change**

Extreme fluctuations in weather in Australia and around the world will continue to affect Australian communities and our economy. More unpredictable weather events and more extreme weather events leading to environmental damage and disruption to communities will affect supply chains and a wide range of industries, and individual wellbeing.

Lowering greenhouse gas emissions is key to limiting the impact of future climate change. In June 2022, the government formally updated Australia's commitment under the Paris Agreement to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 43% below 2005 levels by 2030 and put Australia on track to achieve net zero emissions by 2050. Green technologies are evolving rapidly and will provide opportunity for Australia's economic recovery and resilience. We are acting to realise those opportunities and ensure our transport, communications, infrastructure and community sectors are positioned to adapt and mitigate climate change impacts.



### Harnessing data, digitalisation and emerging technology

Digital disruption, big data and digitalisation will all mature and be used more effectively over the next 4 years. We can leverage technological change in communications infrastructure, which underpins productivity and economic benefits delivered to our communities, innovators and industries. At the same time, private enterprise, particularly digital platforms, will continue to grow in influence and play an increasingly active role. Connectivity, mobility, automation and digitalisation are converging, creating new advancements in transport like automated vehicles, cooperative intelligent transport systems, emerging aviation technologies and smarter supply chains. These in turn, will enable cleaner, faster, safer and more productive and inclusive trade and transport.

Increased connectivity means our policies and programs need to embrace emerging technologies, combat misinformation and disinformation, protect privacy, support safety, remain secure and adapt to changing consumer expectations. Our future regulation will need flexibility to encourage innovation and improve coordination across agencies and jurisdictions, whilst protecting against unintended consequences from rapid technological development.



We anticipate new critical population mass in regional employment hubs, demanding place-based policy solutions, reliable and safe transport infrastructure, increased digital connectivity and repurposing of public spaces for cultural and creative expression. Australians continue to require infrastructure and services that support economic growth, better standards of living and more liveable cities and regions. Effective collaboration across all levels of government towards shared objectives is vital in connecting and linking Australians.

## Delivering against outcomes and measuring performance

Our performance framework measures progress towards achieving our 5 purposes and 6 outcomes. We deliver on these in partnership with our portfolio entities, other governments, industries, communities and international organisations. We realise our outcomes, achieve our purposes and measure our performance through:

12



## Providing strategic policy advice

We provide the Australian Government with high-quality, strategic policy options and advice on infrastructure, transport, regional development, cities, northern Australia, the territories, communications connectivity, creative and cultural related matters. Our advice is evidence-based and informed by research, consultation, analysis and broader government objectives.

Our efforts to provide high-quality, forward looking strategic policy options and advice are complemented by our research capability. Our Bureau of Infrastructure and Transport **Research Economics (BITRE)** provides economic analysis, research and statistics to inform Australian Government policy development and wider community understanding. Similarly, our Bureau of Communications, Arts and Regional Research (BCARR) provides economic and data analysis to allow us to identify trends, gaps, emerging issues and risks in markets and society.



## Delivering programs and services

We deliver efficient and effective programs and services to achieve the government's policy outcomes. Through our central offices located in Canberra and our regional office network, we provide a diverse range of services to the infrastructure, transport, communications, cultural and creative sectors across communities in urban, regional and remote areas. We adhere to high standards of integrity and public administration, and seek to continuously balance risk and opportunity to achieve better policy outcomes.

Important to our success across our broad areas of responsibility is our ability to form strong partnerships and work effectively with all stakeholders, including federal, state and local governments, industry partners and communities. The department has highly developed place-based data and capability that contributes to the design and delivery of tailored policies and investments in different cities and regions. Our ability to form, harness and encourage effective partnerships with a wide range of entities and people across different places, directly supports the Australian community in the ways we want to live, work and spend our leisure time.



### Delivering and administering fit-forpurpose regulation

We administer portfolio legislation efficiently and effectively by taking a risk-based, collaborative and data-driven approach. We work to continuously improve our regulatory performance and we seek to ensure our regulation settings incentivise appropriate investment and is fit-for-purpose now and into the future. We also work with ministers on their expectations of regulator performance and provide reporting on the performance of our regulatory functions.



## Measuring our performance

We continually review our performance measures against the Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Rule 2014 (PGPA Rule) to improve our alignment with better practice information that is unbiased, reliable and verifiable. We also update regularly to align with our current purposes and provide confidence in delivering our outcomes. This review process is in accordance with our obligations as a non-corporate Commonwealth entity, as we seek to clearly outline in our planning and reporting documents our intentions, how we measure results and report on those achievements.

Since our last Corporate Plan, we have structured our performance framework to better align our measures to purposes, outcomes and programs, improving the line of sight between the Portfolio Budget Statements, Corporate Plan and Annual Report. Our refined and more meaningful targets provide the parliament and public with higher quality information to assess our performance in 2022–23 and over the coming 4 years.

We have reduced the number of key activities and performance measures from 27 to 21 and 85 to 38 respectively, by:

- discontinuing measures containing management-level information
- removing finished programs
- removing measures where we had little or no control over the outcome or
- removing measures that were lacking measurable and reliable targets.

We have also included additional information relating to the measures' rationale and data sources.

These changes are identified throughout this document with references to the 2021–22 Corporate Plan, enhancing a clear line of sight between the 3 planning and reporting publications.

As we deliver against our outcomes we strive to set targets, however in some cases we are unable to establish targets where they:

- are demand driven
- have long-term outcomes as they are subject to ongoing policy or regulatory changes
- are supporting projects for which work requirements fluctuate.

On 1 July 2022, the National Water Grid Authority transferred to the Department of Climate Change, Energy, the Environment and Water, and the copyright function transferred to the Attorney-General's Department. As a result, our performance framework excludes one key activity and 4 performance measures previously reported within the water infrastructure purpose, and changes to one performance measure relating to our content and classification frameworks.

Estimated performance achievements against targets will be reported in the 2023–24 Portfolio Budget Statements, and final results will be acquitted in the 2022–23 Annual Performance Statements, which form part of the Annual Report, completing the annual performance cycle.

This Corporate Plan may be updated to reflect any material changes following the October 2022 Federal Budget.



## **Our performance**



CHAPTER 02

•

## **Transport connectivity**



Improved infrastructure across Australia through investment in and coordination of transport and other infrastructure

An efficient, sustainable, competitive, safe and secure transport system for all transport users through regulation, financial assistance and safety investigations

Supporting an efficient, sustainable, competitive, accessible, safe and secure transport system and supporting jobs through infrastructure investment

### **Environment and risk**

#### Investing in transport infrastructure

Australia's transport system underpins our way of life and is the lifeblood of our economy. Working with state and territory governments, we are delivering a substantial infrastructure pipeline over 10 years from 2022–23 to 2031–32, investing in projects assisting national and regional economic and social developments, and major disaster resilience and recovery.

As the major investor, we are also supporting Australian Government Business Enterprises (GBEs). This includes Australian Rail Track Corporation (ARTC) delivering Inland Rail, and the transformation of the Moorebank Intermodal Company into the National Intermodal Corporation Ltd to support significant investment in terminals across Australia's east coast, including common user terminals at Brisbane and Melbourne. Our support for investment in significant and complex projects continues with the development of the Western Sydney International (Nancy-Bird Walton) Airport. These major Commonwealth projects will help facilitate safer, more reliable, secure and efficient movement of people and goods throughout Australia and internationally; generating greater opportunities and jobs for local communities, as well as the broader economy, well into the future.

Transport infrastructure construction plays an important role in supporting economic recovery as we learn to live with COVID-19, and create a stronaer future for Australia. We will continue to work together with industry, governments and our portfolio entities to deliver infrastructure upgrades and address challenges in the construction sector, including productivity, escalating prices, and tight labour markets, with the latter compounded by major projects coming online simultaneously.

To mitigate these challenges, we will work with governments and the private sector on these major projects from identification through to completion. For example, we are working together with other Australian Government departments and the Queensland Government to support the Brisbane 2032 Olympic and Paralympic Games. This collaboration and significant investment in infrastructure will deliver a world class games as well as support the growing needs of South East Queensland.

Transport contributes around 19% of Australia's CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, with 84% coming from road transport alone. Work to reduce road transport emissions is being progressed by the Australian Government and state and territory governments. We will coordinate actions to contribute to the development of the National Electric Vehicle Strategy including measures to support the supply of zero and low emission vehicles and will work closely with the heavy vehicle and rail industries to support low emission initiatives. We are also partnering with domestic industry to reduce maritime and aviation emissions.

This substantial investment in transport infrastructure will result in commuters and freight moving safely and more efficiently; ensure supply chains and labour markets are resilient and meet Australia's needs, and create job opportunities. Our targeted engagement with industry ensures our investments are fit-for-purpose, promote freight market competition and capitalise on commercial opportunities.

#### Safeguarding supply chains

Recent natural disasters have highlighted how vital efficient Australian supply chains are to the community. Our increasingly connected domestic and international markets are demanding greater efficiency, reliability and cost-competitiveness from the freight and supply chain sector, particularly as our population grows and moves.

#### **Technological disruption**

Emerging transport technologies such as Connected and Automated Vehicles (CAV) have potential to improve transport safety, productivity, accessibility and sustainability. Recent estimates from the Bureau of Infrastructure and Transport Research Economics (BITRE) predict that highly automated vehicles will enter the Australian market around 2026, making up two thirds of light vehicle sales by 2050. We are developing new regulatory frameworks needed to support the safe commercial deployment of automated vehicles and other technologies. New aircraft, including Remotely Piloted Aircraft Systems (drones), will provide opportunities to access new markets and uses, while traditional aircraft are capable of extended range. We will lead the work with state and territory governments, supporting the introduction of emeraina technologies and availability,

Such demands apply to the whole sector and all modes of transport — air, rail, road and shipping — regardless of jurisdictional boundaries. We will continue to work in close consultation with all sectors of industry and with all governments to understand and meet Australia's freight needs and lead through market stewardship best-practice regulation.

adoption and deployment of cooperative intelligent transport systems to all Australians.

Safe, efficient and sustainable domestic and international transport systems are vital to Australia's continuing prosperity and achieving net zero emissions by 2050. Australia is seeing an increasing uptake of electric vehicles and the continued uptake of electric and hydrogen fuel cell vehicles which will enable reductions in emissions intensity.

Australia is engaged in ongoing work through international fora, as a foundation member of the International Maritime Organization (IMO) and the International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO), to drive the development of practical and effective global measures to reduce emissions and improve environmental outcomes through operational and technological initiatives.

#### **Transport safety**

Australia is committed to ensuring the safety of domestic commercial vessels. We are supporting an independent panel to review the current regulatory arrangements to determine whether they are fit-for-purpose and to identify opportunities to improve safety outcomes.

Improving road safety is critically important for all Australians. The Australian Government has committed to significantly reducing the number of road deaths and serious injuries over the next decade, putting us towards zero deaths and serious injuries on our roads (Vision Zero) by 2050. We are continuing to work closely with state and territory governments to lead the national direction, setting road safety policy through the <u>National</u> <u>Road Safety Strategy 2021–30</u> and accompanying Action Plans. This strategy includes the reduction of road fatalities

by 50% and serious injuries by 30% by 2030 through safer roads, safer vehicles, safer road use, and speed management embedded throughout.

#### Recovery of our transport economy

A strong and sustainable aviation sector is critical for Australia's prosperity. Prior to COVID–19, aviation moved over 100 million domestic and international passengers each year, enabling employment, education and tourism, connecting communities across Australia and the world. The pandemic however, caused dramatic effects including disrupted travel, grounded planes and minimal airport operations, resulting in job losses and declines in revenue for aviation related businesses.

The response to the COVID–19 pandemic has now shifted to a new phase with the resumption of travel, as domestic and international borders have re-opened, and reducing the volatility in regulatory settings administered by the department. The current focus is now assisting with the recovery of the aviation sector and positioning it for long-term sustainability.

### Key activities, output and efficiency measures

$\overline{\checkmark}$

### Key Activity: Deliver and manage the Infrastructure Investment Program

Outcome 1 – Program 1.1		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
<ol> <li>Progress of land transport infrastructure investment projects</li> </ol>	By June 2023, projects progressed in accordance with agreed timeframes	<ul> <li>By June 2026, National Partnership Agreement projects, land transport infrastructure projects schedules agreed with jurisdictions following the October 2022 Budget:</li> <li>Planning commenced on 100% of projects;</li> <li>more than 70% are under construction;</li> <li>more than 50% have construction completed</li> </ul>

Note: Combines Measures 1 and 2 from 2021–22 Corporate Plan (p. 21).

Methodology: Analysis of departmental records on project progress.

Rationale: This measure is directly relevant to the delivery of the Infrastructure Investment Program.

**Data Source:** State teams in the Infrastructure Investment Division receive project status information from state and territory governments, this is entered into the Infrastructure Management System (IMS) and captured monthly in the Program of Works.

## Key Activity: Lead policy (with the Department of Finance) and shape the delivery of major transport infrastructure projects

(Note: Key activity updated for 2022–23. Change in focus from business cases to implementation)

Outcome 1 – Program 1.1		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
2. Implementation of investment in intermodal terminals	Delivery milestones are met for each financial year	Delivery milestones are met for each financial year

Note: Combines Measures 12 and 13 from 2021–22 Corporate Plan (p. 24).

**Methodology:** Progress will be measured against milestones overseen through the new National Intermodal Corporation's governance and reporting arrangements.

**Rationale:** This measure provides assurance over the delivery of the Moorebank Intermodal Terminal Precinct (MITP) and the Melbourne and Brisbane Inland Rail terminals. The Australian Government has committed over \$570 million for the MITP project. The scheduled date for completion of the Interstate Terminal is March 2025.

**Data Source:** Container volumes at the Moorebank Import Export Terminal, based on statistics since operations began in late 2019. The progress of Melbourne and Brisbane Inland Rail terminals will be measured against the Funding Agreement, governance documentation and reporting from the National Intermodal Corporation. The department is a joint shareholder with the Department of Finance.

22

#### Case Study: Transforming investment — National Intermodal Corporation Ltd

On 24 February 2022, the Australian Government announced the transformation of the Moorebank Intermodal Company Ltd into the National Intermodal Corporation Ltd.

This case study expands on the current performance measure within the 2021–22 Corporate Plan (p. 24) — Implementation of Intermodal Terminal Business Cases. The department will report on 2022–23 project milestones for the significant planning, delivery and operation of intermodal terminals in Melbourne and Brisbane to service Inland Rail, and the Moorebank Intermodal terminal in Sydney. This investment is helping to ensure the \$14.5 billion investment in Inland Rail will be accessible to all industry participants, regardless of size.

Over the forward estimates, these new terminals will create, for the first time, a network of interconnected modern, efficient terminals along the east coast, managed by an independent company, leveraging industry experience and genuinely promoting open access to encourage new entrants to the rail freight market.

### Key Activity: Advise on and deliver better road safety as well as vehicle and rail regulation

Outcome 2 – Program 2.1		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
3. Progress reforms for regulating vehicles and rail that support safety and productivity	Policy advice is high-quality, timely and evidence-based to support decision making on heavy vehicle and rail productivity and safety matters. Funding is delivered for relevant programs such as the Heavy Vehicle Safety Initiative, Strategic Local Government Asset Assessment Project and rail programs.	Advice provided to ministers is timely to support decision making on heavy vehicle and rail productivity and safety matters. Funding is delivered for relevant programs such as the Heavy Vehicle Safety Initiative, Strategic Local Government Asset Assessment Project and rail programs.

Methodology: Analysis of departmental records.

**Rationale:** This measure is directly related to the department's review of the Heavy Vehicle National Law, Heavy Vehicle Road Reform and the National Rail Action Plan.

**Data Source:** Briefing provided to ministers, including papers to Infrastructure and Transport Ministers' Meetings (ITMM).



## Case Study: Driving improvement through the Heavy Vehicle Safety and Productivity Programs and the Bridges Renewal Program

Since they commenced (in 2008 and 2013 respectively) the Heavy Vehicle Safety and Productivity Program (HVSPP) and the Bridges Renewal Program (BRP) have supported over 1,000 projects, improving the productivity and safety of bridges and heavy vehicle routes right around Australia.

Until 2021, the programs were run as time limited rounds, open to applications on an ad-hoc basis, every 12 to 18 months with only 6 week windows provided for application submission.

As part of a continuous improvement process, and to better meet applicants' needs, a number of reforms were proposed to make the programs more responsive, flexible and efficient. All proposed changes were accepted by the Australian Government and the Programs re-opened to applications under these new arrangements from 10 November 2021.

These changes were well received by state, territory and local governments and are already proving effective in bringing about improvements. From 2022–23 we expect to see:

- the ongoing open status of the programs driving up the quality of applications with applicants able to submit projects as they are needed, making the programs faster and more responsive (e.g. rebuilding bridges washed away in flood)
- the percentage of ineligible applications continue to drop noting over the first 6 months of the new arrangements it dropped from 14% to 4%
- projects commencing sooner in line with the needs of the freight industry and local communities.

The department will monitor the impact of these changes over time.

## Key Activity: Advise on and deliver policy for access to transport for people with a disability

Outcome 2 – Program 2.1		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
4. Progress of reforms to the Disability Standards for Accessible Public Transport	Financial year delivery milestones set by the ITMM are met	Financial year delivery milestones set by the ITMM are met

Methodology: Analysis of departmental records.

**Rationale:** This measure relates to outcomes of reviews of the <u>Disability Standards for Accessible Public</u>. <u>Transport 2002</u><sup>1</sup> (Transport Standards) that recognise the need to reform the Transport Standards to reflect the current and future needs of people with disability and to provide guidance to operators and providers to practically fulfil their obligations under the <u>Disability Discrimination Act 1992</u><sup>2</sup>.

Data Source: Papers to the Infrastructure and Transport Ministers' Meetings (ITMM).

### Key Activity: Advise on technology advances in the road transport sector

Jutaana 2

Due europe

24

Outcome 2 – Program 2.1		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
5. Develop policy and regulatory advice, including supporting of trials and research, to support progress towards the safe, legal and nationally consistent introduction and uptake of Connected and Automated Vehicles (CAV) in Australia	Policy advice is high-quality, timely and evidence-based, adapts to the changing environment and developed in partnership with states and territories, the National Transport Commission (NTC) and key industry stakeholders Commonwealth-led actions in the National Land Transport Technology Action Plan (NLTTAP) 2020–23 are substantially complete and progress is made towards developing the next iteration of the NLTTAP Progress on a national Automated Vehicle Safety Law	Drafting instructions for a national AVSL to be implemented through Commonwealth law are complete, the national AVSL is introduced, and a national regulator is established, consistent with the roadmap for implementing a national safety framework for automated vehicles agreed by Infrastructure and Transport Ministers
	(AVSL) and associated in-service framework meets the timeframes set by ITMM	

**Methodology:** Analysis of progress of Commonwealth-led actions as reported in the <u>National Land Transport</u> <u>Technology Action Plan Annual Review</u><sup>3</sup> (NLTTAP).

Analysis of updates to ITMM on the progress of Commonwealth-led actions against the regulatory implementation roadmap for a national approach to the safety assurance of Connected and Automated Vehicles.

**Rationale:** Emerging transport technologies such as CAVs have the potential to improve transport safety, productivity, accessibility and sustainability. The measure recognises that the primary role of the department in supporting uptake of CAVs and other road transport technologies is to provide policy and regulatory advice, including to enable implementation of activities agreed by Infrastructure and Transport Ministers. It allows for a qualitative assessment of the department's policy and regulatory advice, including indirectly, by measuring the progress of Commonwealth-led actions under the NLTTAP and implementation roadmap for a national approach to the safety assurance of CAVs.

**Data Source:** Papers and decisions relevant to Commonwealth-led actions against the regulatory implementation roadmap for a national approach to the safety assurance of automated vehicles provided to ITMM.

The annual review and next iteration of the NLTTAP, published on the department's website.

3 Available at: https://www.infrastructure.gov.au/sites/default/files/documents/nlttap\_annual\_progress\_review\_report\_2021.pdf



Key Activity: Manage domestic and international maritime policy, programs and regulation to support efficient sea trade, vessel safety, Australian maritime skills capability and environmental protection

Outcome 2 – Program 2.1		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
<ol> <li>Performance of Tasmanian shipping programs, indicated through number of:</li> </ol>	Programs are demand-driven	Programs are demand-driven
a) claims paid (Tasmanian Freight Equalisation Scheme)		
b) rebates provided (Bass Strait Passenger Vehicle Equalisation Scheme)		

Methodology: Data provided by Services Australia every quarter of each financial year.

**Rationale:** The government is committed to reducing the cost of transport across Bass Strait faced by shippers and sea travellers through the Tasmanian Freight Equalisation Scheme (TFES) and the Bass Strait Passenger Vehicle Equalisation Scheme (BSPVES).

Data Source: Claim processing is managed by Services Australia, as the delivery agency for both Schemes.

### Key Activity: Implement the National Freight and Supply Chain Strategy and Action Plan

Outcome 2 – Program 2.1		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
7. Progress implementing the National Freight and Supply Chain Strategy for the next 20 years and beyond to 2040	The 2021–22 annual report on national freight performance outcomes is complete and presented to ministers in November 2022, and the Strategy's performance framework is updated by June 2023	Delivery milestones specified in the National Freight and Supply Chain Strategy are met for the financial year, and a 5 year review of the Strategy and Action Plan is completed

Methodology: Analysis of departmental records.

**Rationale:** The measure will allow a qualitative assessment of freight performance against the Strategy and Action Plan to support improved freight outcomes across all modes of transport.

**Data Source:** National Freight and Supply Chain Strategy <u>standalone website</u><sup>4</sup>, with <u>National Freight Performance</u> <u>Dashboard</u><sup>5</sup>, <u>Annual Report</u><sup>6</sup> and independent <u>Industry Reference Panel Statement</u><sup>7</sup>

- 5 Available at: <u>https://www.freightaustralia.gov.au/a-closer-look/freight-performance-dashboard</u>
- 6 Available at: <u>https://www.freightaustralia.gov.au/annual-report</u>
- 7 Available at: https://www.freightaustralia.gov.au/freight-industry-reference-panel

<sup>4</sup> Available at: <u>https://www.freightaustralia.gov.au/</u>

### Key Activity: Advise on and deliver better road safety as well as vehicle and rail regulation

Outcome 2 – Program 2.2		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
<ul> <li>8. Progress on the implementation of:</li> <li>a) the National Road Safety Strategy for the decade 2021 to 2030; and</li> </ul>	Implement and report using newly established consistent source of national serious injury data Data hub is established	Delivery milestones in the National Road Safety Strategy are met for each financial year
b) the National Road Safety Data Hub		

Methodology: Analysis of road serious injury and fatality data.

**Rationale:** The Australian Government is committed to reducing deaths and serious injuries on Australian roads. This measure reflects this focus on national road safety and relies on the number and population rate of serious injuries and deaths on Australian roads, which are key indicators of road safety performance over time.

The Australian Government has responsibility for 2 key levers to improve road safety through funding infrastructure investment and vehicle imports. However, the impact of these are long-term. Immediate impacts in reducing the road toll are achieved through more direct levers within the authority of states and territories. In addition, states own infrastructure investment priorities; speed management controls; licencing and registration for drivers and vehicles; and enforcement and compliance activities which are more effective as immediate impacts (on an annual basis) in reducing fatal and serious injuries.

**Data Source:** The National Crash Database, the Australian Road Deaths Database and the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare hospitalisation series, which has a 2-year lag on available data.

## Key Activity: Regulate the supply of all road vehicles to the Australian market

(Note: New key activity reflecting the importance of assessing efficiency and effectiveness following the implementation of legislation and new system)

Outcome 2 – Program 2.2		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
9. Average time taken to assess applications for road vehicle imports, and the implementation of Road Vehicle Standards legislation	<ul> <li>a) 95% of applications are assessed within legislative timeframes</li> <li>b) All relevant legislation and legislative instruments are in place prior to the end of the transitional period</li> </ul>	<ul><li>a) 95% of applications are assessed within legislative timeframes</li><li>b) A two-year review of legislation will be undertaken</li></ul>

**Methodology:** Analysis of application processing reports from the department's Road Vehicle Regulator (ROVER) system.

**Rationale:** The department supports the safety, environmental and anti-theft performance of all road vehicles being provided to the Australian market for the first time through the <u>Road Vehicle Standards (RVS) legislation</u><sup>8</sup>. While all of the mandatory components of the legislation have been implemented, some optional components are still under development and are expected to provide more certainty for applicants and consistency in decision making. The transitional period for relevant legislation and legislative instruments has been extended, ending 30 June 2023. Despite establishing this measure the making of legislation is ultimately a decision for government.

While the benefits of ensuring road vehicles comply with appropriate standards is clear, it is government policy to minimise the regulatory burden imposed on industry through the application and approval processes. Monitoring timeframes in which decisions on applications are made will assist the department to ensure its systems and processes are efficient and effective.

**Data Source:** The department's Road Vehicle Regulator (ROVER) system for monitoring decision-making timeframes. Legislative timeframes for model reports, vehicle type and component type approvals allow up to 60 business days and the following application types allow up to 30 business days:

- concessional Register of Authorised Vehicles (RAV) entry approvals
- non-RAV entry import approvals
- authorised vehicle verifier approvals
- registered automotive workshop approvals
- testing facility approvals
- entry on the Specialist and Enthusiast Vehicles Register.

Applications for not a road vehicle (NARV) do not have a legislative timeframe, however the department has agreed to 30 business days.

The data source for implementation of the RVSA legislation will be the Federal Register of Legislation which contains all of the Australian Governments acts and legislative instruments.

## К

### Key Activity: Lead the design of the Western Sydney Airport flight path

Outcome 2 – Program 2.3		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
10. Development and Environmental Assessment of Preliminary Flight Paths for Western Sydney International (Nancy-Bird Walton) Airport	Delivery milestones are met for 2022–23	Flight paths finalised and approved following community consultation to enable airport opening in 2026

Methodology: Analysis of departmental records tracking project milestones and partners' reporting.

**Rationale:** The department is responsible for leading the flight path design for Western Sydney Airport, working closely with Airservices Australia and the Civil Aviation Safety Authority. The design of the flight paths are guided by 12 design principles outlined in the <u>2021 Airport Plan</u><sup>9</sup>. These design principles seek to maximise safety, efficiency and capacity, while minimising impacts on the community and the environment.

Data Source: Departmental records.

### Key Activity: Manage domestic aviation policy, program and regulation

Outcome 2 – Program 2.3		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
11. Percentage of Master Plans and Major Development Plans processed for federally leased airports within statutory timeframes	100% in each financial year	100% in each financial year

Methodology: Analysis of departmental records.

**Rationale:** To ensure all Master Plans and Major Development Plans are assessed within the statutory timeframes specified in the <u>Airports Act 1996</u><sup>10</sup>

Data Source: Published Master Plans and Major Development Plans.

9 Available at: https://www.westernsydneyairport.gov.au/sites/default/files/documents/wsa-plan-2021.pdf

10 Available at: https://www.legislation.gov.au/Series/C2004A05061

Outcome 2 – Program 2.3			
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26	
<ul> <li>12. Performance of the Regional Airports Program (RAP) and the Remote Airstrip Upgrade (RAU) program, indicated through number of completed projects:</li> <li>a) in regional Australia (RAP)</li> <li>b) in remote Australia (RAU)</li> </ul>	In 2022–23, RAP and RAU projects are completed in line with their funding agreements. Both RAP and RAU continue for one round with RAP funding to 2024–25; RAU funding to 2023–24.	<ul> <li>a) 100% of RAP projects with funding agreements in place are completed by 30 June 2025, with a third round of RAP grants to be offered on a competitive basis in 2022.</li> <li>b) 100% of RAU projects with funding agreements in place are completed by 30 June 2024, with a ninth round of RAU grants to be offered on a competitive basis in 2022.</li> </ul>	

**Methodology:** Analysis of reporting from the Grants Hub administered by the Department of Industry, Science and Resources.

**Rationale:** To ensure that all projects, where a funding agreement has been put in place, are completed in accordance with the scope, timing and funding allocation detailed in their agreement or any subsequent variation. Ensuring Australian Government funding for these projects is delivering the anticipated outcomes of improved safety and access to and for regional and remote communities.

Funding is allocated to projects through a competitive grants program, which ranks projects for funding based on an assessment of the project need, the benefits it will bring and the extent to which the applicant can deliver the project. As project delivery can span multiple years, completion rates can not be assessed on a yearly basis, only at the conclusion of the program.

Data Source: Funding agreements for completed projects.

Outcome 2 – Program 2.3		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
13. Remote Air Services Subsidy (RASS) Scheme performance is indicated by eligible communities in remote and isolated areas of Australia having access to a regular air transport service for the carriage of passengers and goods	All eligible communities are admitted and maintained in the RASS Scheme	All eligible communities are admitted and maintained in the RASS Scheme

Methodology: Consolidated data from contracts with RASS air operators.

**Rationale:** To ensure communities can apply for admission to the RASS Scheme at any time, depending on the case they make in terms of the need for a weekly service, their remoteness, compliance with aerodrome safety standards, air operator agreement and available funding.

The Australian Government can also strategically determine a community to be a potential recipient as well as the frequency of the service (e.g. fortnightly) or whether it is delivered on a seasonal basis. Air operators are contracted with the Australian Government for a fixed term and are selected in accordance with the <u>Commonwealth</u> <u>Procurement Rules<sup>11</sup></u>.

Data Source: Number of ports serviced through the RASS program.



### **Effectiveness measures**

## Effectiveness Measure: Supporting an efficient and sustainable transport system

Outcome 2 – Program 2.1			
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26	
14. Provide policy advice on reducing CO <sub>2</sub> emissions consistent with Government commitments for the transport sector	Policy advice is high-quality, timely and evidence-based and adapts to the changing environment Active participation in relevant international fora Progress Australia's engagement and activities under the Clydebank Declaration, Quad Green Shipping Taskforce and maritime low emission technology initiative with Singapore Updates to the Green Vehicle Guide to improve information on electric vehicles and charging infrastructure	Implement a Net Zero Unit within the department to provide Whole- of-Government high quality, timely and evidence-based policy advice on responding to climate change in transport, communications and infrastructure Actively participate in relevant international standards setting fora on emissions reduction Progress Australia's engagement in maritime decarbonisation activities under the Clydebank Declaration, Quad Green Shipping Taskforce and low emission technology initiative with Singapore Update the Green Vehicle Guide to improve information on electric vehicles and charging infrastructure	

Note: Combines Measures 25, 26 and 27 from 2021–22 Corporate Plan (p.27)

**Methodology:** Analysis of data from the Bureau of Infrastructure and Transport Research Economics (BITRE) <u>Australian Infrastructure and Transport Statistics Yearbook<sup>12</sup></u>.

**Rationale:** To ensure the department is consistent with whole-of-government reporting on Australia's greenhouse emissions and international obligations.

**Data Source:** BITRE publishes financial year domestic transport greenhouse gas emissions data on the department's website as part of the BITRE Australian Infrastructure and Transport Statistics Yearbook. These reports are published on an annual basis.  $CO_2$  emissions data on the BITRE website dates back to the 1970s. Emissions figures are available 6 months after the end of each financial year, however, transport activity figures (used as the denominator in this indicator) for each financial year are not available until the middle of the next year (for example figures for 2021–22 will be available in mid 2023).



32

#### Effectiveness Measure: Supporting a safe and accessible transport system

Outcome 2 – Program 2.1			
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26	
15. Provide policy advice supporting maritime safety	Policy advice is high-quality, timely and evidence-based to support decision making on the Review of Domestic Commercial Vessels Safety Legislation and Costs and Charging Arrangements	Policy advice is high-quality, timely and evidence-based to support decision making on the Review of Domestic Commercial Vessels Safety Legislation and Costs and Charging Arrangements	

**Methodology:** Analysis of maritime fatality data from the Australian Transport Safety Bureau (ATSB) Maritime Occurrence Database.

**Rationale:** The Australian Government is committed to reducing fatal and serious injury maritime incidents in Australia. The department is responsible for advising government on maritime safety policy, and administering maritime safety legislation and regulation.

The department administers legislation for maritime safety, which empowers the Australian Maritime Safety Authority and is intended to influence safe behaviour across Australia's maritime industries. A declining trend in maritime fatality data is the best available measure of the effectiveness of safety laws, noting safety is also influenced directly by multiple factors, including the delivery of regulatory activity, industry safety cultures, and the choices of individuals.

**Data Source:** Australian Transport Safety Bureau (ATSB 2017, Maritime Occurrence Database). BITRE receives maritime fatality data each year from ATSB for inclusion in the <u>Australian Infrastructure and Transport Statistics</u> <u>Yearbook</u><sup>13</sup>. For each calendar year, data is provided to BITRE in approximately July the following year. For the rate per 100,000 population, the ABS Australian Demographic Statistics will be used. Figures for end of June of each year are available in December of the same year.

Outcome 2 – Program 2.2		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
16. Reduction in the number of road fatalities and fatality rate per 100,000 population	The rolling ten-year annual average road fatalities is maintained or reduced	As per the National Road Safety Strategy for the decade 2021 to 2030, a reduction in the annual number of fatalities by at least 50% by 2030

Methodology: Analysis of road fatality data in the Australian Road Deaths Database.

**Rationale:** The Australian Government is committed to reducing deaths and serious injuries on Australian roads. The measure reflects the department's commitment to national road safety and is based on the number and population rate of road deaths as key indicators of road safety performance over time.

The Australian Government has responsibility for 2 key levers to improve road safety through funding infrastructure investment and regulating the supply of vehicles. However, the impact of these are long-term. Immediate impacts in reducing the road toll are achieved through more direct levers within the authority of states and territories, which have their own infrastructure investment priorities; speed management controls, licencing and registration for drivers and vehicles, enforcement and compliance activities – which have more immediate impacts (on an annual basis) on reducing fatalities and serious injuries.

**Data Source:** BITRE Australian Road Deaths database – preliminary monthly data series. The fatality data is updated monthly. Data is preliminary and subject to frequent revision by state and territory data providers. The heavy vehicle crash flag has a data lag of approximately 2 months. The monthly road deaths are published in the:

- Road Deaths Australia Monthly Bulletins on or around 14th of the following month
- Heavy Vehicle quarterly
- Road Trauma Australia and Road Trauma involving Heavy Vehicle annual reports
- the International Road Safety Comparisons annual report
- <u>Australian Road Deaths Database<sup>14</sup></u>.

The Australian Road Deaths Database provides basic details of road transport crash fatalities in Australia as reported by the police each month to the state and territory road safety authorities. National Road Safety Strategy Performance indicators are published at <u>www.roadsafety.gov.au</u>. Final indicators are calendar year fatality and fatal crash counts that are updated annually using the National Crash Database (validated final indicators by October) with provisional updates on a regular basis using the Australian Road Deaths Database. For the rate per 100,000 population, the ABS Australian Demographic Statistics will be used. Figures for end of June of each year are available in December of the same year.

Outcome 2 – Program 2.3		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
17. Provide policy advice supporting aviation safety	Policy advice is high-quality, timely and evidence-based	Policy advice is high-quality, timely and evidence-based

**Methodology:** Feedback from the Minister and Minister's office. Policy advice supporting New Policy Proposals and Cabinet submissions is robust and supported by the Minister. Feedback from stakeholders.

**Rationale:** The department develops policy advice for government and provides governance for aviation entities, including the Civil Aviation Safety Authority which is responsible for regulation aviation safety, and Airservices Australia which is responsible for the safe and efficient management of Australia's skies.

**Data Source:** Executive meetings with Minister's office. Stakeholder response to public policy papers. Stakeholder feedback in department-led consultative fora.

14 Available at: http://www.bitre.gov.au/statistics/safety/fatal\_road\_crash\_database.aspxv

## Changes in our performance information since 2021–22 Corporate Plan

Following a regular review of our 2021–22 performance information, the following measures for Outcomes 1 and 2 were either consolidated as they were subsets of the same measure **(Table 1)** or deleted **(Table 2)**.

#### Table 1: Consolidated measures (7)

2021–22 Corporate Plan Measure		2022–23 Corporate Plan		
1.	Progress of land transport infrastructure investment projects up to \$250 million (p. 21)	1.	Progress of land transport infrastructure investment	
2.	Progress of land transport infrastructure investment projects over \$250 million (p. 21)		projects	
12.	Implementation of Moorebank Intermodal Terminal (p. 24)	2.	Implementation of investment	
13.	Implementation of Intermodal Terminal Business Cases (p. 24)		in intermodal terminals	
25.	Domestic $CO_2$ emissions and rate of emissions: road (per vehicle kilometre) (p. 27)	14.	Provide policy advice on reducing $CO_2$ emissions	
26.	Domestic CO <sub>2</sub> emissions and rate of emissions: rail (per tonne kilometre) (p. 27)		consistent with Government commitments for the transport sector	
27.	Domestic CO <sub>2</sub> emissions and rate of emissions: maritime (per tonne kilometre) (p. 27)			

#### Table 2: Deleted measures (15)

#### 2021–22 Corporate Plan Measure

- 3. Average time taken to prepare Infrastructure Investment Monthly Program of Works reports (p. 21)
- 7. Satisfaction of regulated shipping entities (p. 22)
- 9. Effectiveness of international engagement on maritime matters (p. 23)
- 11. Implementation of Western Sydney International (Nancy-Bird Walton) Airport (p. 24)
- 14. Implementation of Inland Rail (p. 24)
- 15. Implementation of Inland Rail Interface Improvement Program (p. 24)
- 20. Effectiveness of international engagement on aviation matters (p. 26)
- 21. Number of Significant Project Investment Delivery Office Priority Projects available to the Australian Government for further consideration (p. 26)
- 22. Expected travel time savings arising from infrastructure projects in the Infrastructure Investment Program receiving \$250 million or more in Australian Government funding (p. 27)
- 23. Transport costs for road freight (p. 27)
- 24. Transport costs for rail freight (p. 27)
- 28. Domestic CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and rate of emissions: aviation (per passenger kilometre) (p. 27)
- 30. Number of fatalities and fatality rate per 100,000 population: rail (p. 28)
- 33. Estimated number of jobs supported over the life of the projects, from infrastructure investment projects underway during the financial year (p. 28)

#### 2021–22 Corporate Plan Measure

#### One program terminated during the prior period

- 17. Performance of the Domestic Aviation Network Support (DANS) and Regional Airline Network Support (RANS) programs, indicated through number of:
  - a) domestic commercial airlines receiving DANS or RANS support
  - b) locations receiving DANS or RANS flights (p. 25)

## Significant contributors

Portfolio entities	Contribution
Airservices Australia **	Responsible for managing Australian airspace safety and providing aviation rescue firefighting services
Australian Maritime Safety Authority (AMSA) **	Regulates and promotes maritime safety and environment outcomes. Provides infrastructure to support safe navigation in Australian waters and a national search and rescue service to the maritime and aviation sectors
Australian Rail Track Corporation ***	Delivers Inland Rail as a Commonwealth Government Business Enterprise (GBE)
Australian Transport Safety Bureau (ATSB) *	Investigates transport-related accidents and incidents within Australia, covering air, sea and rail
Civil Aviation Safety Authority (CASA) **	Regulates aviation safety and the operation of Australian aircraft overseas. Oversees pilot licensing, aircraft registration and administers the safe use of Australian airspace
Infrastructure Australia **	Develops an infrastructure priority list and evaluates business cases for project proposals requiring more than \$250 million in Australian Government funding
National Faster Rail Agency *	Manages the delivery of relevant projects under the Infrastructure Investment Program that fall within its remit
National Intermodal Corporation Ltd (formerly Moorebank Intermodal Company Ltd) ***	Commonwealth GBE providing oversight and facilitating delivery of a portfolio of common user intermodal terminals, at the Moorebank Intermodal Terminal Precinct and in Melbourne and Brisbane to support Inland Rail, promoting both competition and efficiency
WSA Co Ltd ***	Delivering Western Sydney International (Nancy-Bird Walton) Airport as a Commonwealth GBE

\* Non-corporate Commonwealth entity

\*\* Corporate Commonwealth entity

\*\*\* Commonwealth company

Significant contributors	Contribution
Airlines operating regular public transport and freight	Maintain air transport connectivity between cities, major regional centres, regional and remote communities
Airports, aerodromes and airstrips	Provide key air connectivity infrastructure to enable connectivity between cities, major regional centres, and regional and remote communities
Australian Competition and Consumer Commission (ACCC)	Contributes to the effective and efficient delivery of Part X of the <u>Competition</u> <u>and Consumer Act 2010</u> <sup>15</sup> by enforcing Part X agreements administered by the department

Significant contributors	Contribution
Australian Taxation Office	Contributes to the effective and efficient delivery of the <u>Shipping Reform (Tax</u> <u>Incentives) Act 2012<sup>16</sup></u> by providing tax incentives to eligible entities based on certificates issued by the department under the Act. Also contributes to the efficient recovery of road construction and maintenance costs from heavy vehicles
Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO)	Develops benchmarking indicators for supply chains relevant to the key objectives of the <u>National Freight and Supply Chain (NFSC) Strategy</u> <sup>17</sup>
Department of Finance	Provides policy, oversight and governance of Commonwealth GBEs and leads on the Commonwealth Investment Framework
Infrastructure and Commercial Advisory Office Branch, Treasury	Provides whole-of-government commercial and financial advisory services on nationally significant infrastructure projects
International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO)	The Australian Government works through the ICAO to establish, promote and enforce international aviation governance to support Australia's interests
International Maritime Organization (IMO)	The Australian Government works through the IMO to establish, promote and enforce international maritime governance to support our trade interests
Members of the Freight Jurisdictional Working Group	Monitor and advise on the delivery progress of the NFSC Strategy and Action Plan
Members of the National Freight and Supply Chain Strategy Commonwealth Working Group	Improve Australia's freight outcomes under the NFSC Strategy and coordinate Commonwealth actions on freight
Ministry of Transport (New Zealand)	Monitors and provides independent advice on the progress on the delivery of the NFSC Strategy and Action Plan
National / state freight related bodies	Represent industry on the delivery and development of the NFSC Strategy
National Heavy Vehicle Regulator (NHVR)	Regulates and promotes heavy vehicle safety, productivity and efficiency outcomes
Office of the National Rail Safety Regulator (ONRSR)	Regulates and enforces safe railway operations. Promotes national rail safety
Road safety advocacy and industry groups	Advocates the adoption of safe road use and vehicles
Services Australia	Contributes to the effective and efficient delivery of the 2 Tasmanian transport programs by ensuring timely claims processing and payments on behalf of the department
State government departments, agencies and local governments	Contributors to and key delivery partners supporting the delivery of infrastructure programs and projects. State government departments, agencies and local governments analyse data associated with project delivery and provide outcomes information.
	Also contribute to the development and implementation of infrastructure and road safety policy, and regulate and promote road safety within respective jurisdictions

Available at: <u>https://www.legislation.gov.au/Series/C2012A00053</u>
 Available at: <u>https://www.infrastructure.gov.au/infrastructure-transport-vehicles/transport-strategy-policy/freight-supply-chains/national-freight-supply-chain-strategy</u>
# Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development, Communications and the Arts • 37

Regional development, northern Australia and cities





Strengthening the sustainability, capacity and diversity of Australia's cities and regions including northern Australia, through facilitating local partnerships between all levels of government and local communities; through investment in infrastructure and measures that stimulate economic growth; and providing grants and financial assistance

Improving living standards and facilitating economic growth in cities and regions, including northern Australia

## **Environment and risk**

Together with the broader Australian Government and our portfolio entities, our work supports the delivery of transport, and communications infrastructure, connecting Australian communities, with our focus on creativity and culture enriching and empowering regional and remote communities, including northern Australia.

Every region and city in Australia is different, diverse in their characteristics and strengths, as well as the priorities and ambitions of the people and communities. To deliver the best outcomes, it is important to invest in the stated needs of a region to build local support and investment, address gaps and barriers to success, and help regions across Australia to reach their potential.

#### Investing in the regions

Over 8 million Australians live outside capital cities and two-thirds of our export earnings come from regional industries such as agriculture, tourism and manufacturing. Australian regions, particularly where markets are thinner, require services and support to ensure they are liveable, inclusive and able to achieve their economic potential. Programs targeted specifically to regional Australia, including northern Australia support and drive these objectives.

Major trends affecting regional Australia in the near future include environmental and climatic, demographic, economic and technological changes that will have localised and varying degrees of impacts. COVID–19 impacts will persist over the coming years, affecting communities and industries. We play a critical leadership role in bringing together regional stakeholders and all levels of government to deliver policies and programs. Our work is built on data and evidence that consistently points to 6 foundations for regional growth:

- connectivity and infrastructure
- human capital and skills
- regional employment and business
- leadership and collaboration
- amenity and liveability
- sustainable natural resources, to build future resilience.

These key foundations reflect both the academic literature regarding regional development and wellbeing, and the priority areas regions tell us support them to thrive and prosper.

Regions are defined in various ways, at various levels of geography, and are not a fixed or static concept reflecting one singular or set of characteristics. When viewed through a place-based lens, regions can be geographically small or large in scale. We focus on a place-based approach to regional development that reflects the individual needs and circumstances of a region. However, while regional Australia cannot be identified as one homogeneous place, trend data on overall demographic shifts indicates a typology of 4 basic types of regions:

- Growing coastal cities and country towns experiencing population growth and strong internal migration due to the opportunities, services, and liveability of the regions
- Growing inland cities and country towns experiencing strong population growth due to good transport links, the presence of agricultural, mining and key industry hubs, and accessible service hubs
- Regions in a state of transition and facing severe economic shock with varying degrees of population growth. These shocks include impacts from natural disasters and wider global transitions to a decarbonised global economy.
- Regions with little or no population growth, or facing population decline, due to the regions' boom or bust economy, distance from service hubs, and lack of current and future economic opportunities. These regions may have thin markets that are more pronounced in inland areas and increase with remoteness.

We will listen to. and work with communities, state and local aovernments and businesses in developing our policy approaches to ensure we use the right tools to achieve our policy outcomes. Place-based investment will be tailored to address the stated priorities and goals of a region, targeting a region's competitive advantages, strengths and opportunities; and addressing locally-identified and data-informed barriers to success. We will ensure our level of engagement and investment is commensurate with the intended outcomes, depending on the need, complexity and scale of impact required.

Genuine partnerships across all levels of government are critical to ensuring that planning, funding and project delivery, across a range of policy responsibilities, maximises regional outcomes. We will be an effective and responsive partner to ensure the Australian Government's investments in a region benefit from alignment and sequencing in a way that supports common objectives, reduces duplication, drives value for money, and meets community and business needs.

We will drive coordination and collaboration across Australian Government agencies to ensure there is a shared understanding and joined-up investment in communities and regions, particularly when partnering with regions.

#### Policy for a changing and growing population

From large cities to small communities, we want Australian communities to continue to be great places to live, work and play. Regional areas tend to have a less robust labour market which is experiencing skills shortages, and areas of disadvantage where socio-economic outcomes decrease as remoteness increases.

Net internal migration from capital cities, in particular Sydney and Melbourne, to regional areas, increased during the COVID–19 period. In the year to June 2021, net internal migration to the regions was 49,180 people, a higher figure than the previous 2 years combined. However, this trend of increased internal migration to our regions has not been uniform across Australia. While coastal cities and coastal country towns are experiencing strong internal migration, there are remote inland areas showing little or no population growth, and some of these regions are facing population decline.

Ensuring essential services, like telecommunications, healthcare, childcare, education and water supplies, and equitable access to skills training, industry-workforces, and housing will better position all regions to address their challenges and take advantage of opportunities to support economic and population growth.





Source: ABS 2022, <u>Regional population</u>, 2020–21 financial year | Australian Bureau of Statistics (abs.gov.au)<sup>18</sup>

2020 saw a favourable shift in attitudes towards regional areas, including from younger people, accompanied by an increase in net migration out of capital cities, enabled by wider adoption of digital workplace tools and flexible

working location policies. Many services and activities transitioned online, including retail, telehealth and education, further highlighting the importance of continuing to strengthen physical and digital connectivity in regional areas.

#### **City and Regional Deals**

Two-thirds of Australia's Gross Domestic Product are produced in our 6 largest capital cities, where 69% of businesses are located. Eighty-six per cent of imports and 22% of exports flow through ports in our 7 coastal capital cities. Over two-thirds of Australians live in our 8 capital cities.

While offering great potential, Australia's cities also face challenges. We therefore tailor the City and Regional Deals to capitalise on each city or region's comparative advantages and assets, and address challenges. They are bespoke, place-based solutions that reflect the unique needs of each city and region, and focus on priorities identified by local communities. City and Regional Deals are long-term agreements between the 3 levels of government and the community, with a strong emphasis on aligning planning, investment and governance to accelerate growth, create jobs, stimulate urban renewal and drive economic reforms.

We are delivering City Deals in Townsville, Launceston, Darwin, Western Sydney, Hobart, Geelong, Perth, Adelaide and South-East Queensland, and planning for a City Deal in Melbourne. We are delivering Regional Deals in the Hinkler, Barkly and Albury Wodonga regions. The Deals are supported by an Australian Government investment of \$9.1 billion, which is leveraging an additional investment from other governments of \$10.5 billion. The 9 City Deals are expected to generate more than 222,000 direct and indirect jobs to 2042.

In accordance with the Australian Government's Vision for Cities, work is underway to transform City and Regional Deals into genuine partnerships which promote collaboration between the 3 levels of government, business and the community. These partnerships will recognise urban policy as a crucial lever for governments to improve productivity, liveability and sustainability, and recognise each city's unique size, transport networks, housing, opportunities for growth, and need to revitalise Central Business Districts in our cities.

#### Growing a stronger northern Australia economy

Northern Australia is defined as all of the Northern Territory and those parts of Queensland and Western Australia that intersect with the Tropic of Capricorn, including the Indian Ocean Territories of Christmas, Cocos and Keeling Islands.

The north of Australia is unique, with natural assets, a young population and distinct culture. Northern Australia's strategic location makes it central to our defence and security cooperation into the Indo-Pacific region. The region also provides Australia's closest connection with our key trading markets, with south east Asia within 2 to 5 hours flying time from Darwin. Northern Australia represents more than 53% of Australia's land mass and is home to 1.3 million people or 5.1% of the national population.

The north's low population density and dispersed industry means it is difficult to capture the economies of scale that would normally underpin the case for community and infrastructure investment. First Nations peoples make up 15% of the northern Australia population and have rights and interests in 78% of the land.

Sustainable economic development and improved liveability is required to develop the north in economic and social terms. The Office of Northern Australia (the ONA) partners with jurisdictions, government agencies, First Nations leaders, the Indigenous Reference Group and the Ministerial Forum on Northern Development to facilitate and align resources to deliver long-term, sustainable growth in northern Australia. The ONA, with key delivery partners, is working to unlock the strategic potential and economic contribution of the north, and strengthen socio-economic parity for local communities. The northern Australia agenda is aligned to the 20-year framework in the 2015 Our North, Our Future: White Paper on Developing Northern Australia.

Our work is positioning the north as an attractive environment for investment, growth and liveability. In 2021–22, the Australian Government invested \$189.6 million through Our North, Our Future: 2021–2026, to support industry diversification and business growth across the north. This investment has leveraged \$238.8 million in contributions from our partners and is expected to create hundreds of jobs in the north.

## Key activities and output measures



## Key Activity: Provide policy leadership and deliver programs to support regional development and local governments

Outcome 3 – Program 3.1		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
18. Performance in delivering legacy regional programs	By June 2023, 95% of all contracted commitments in legacy programs on target for completion	Programs completed prior to the end date for each program

Methodology: Analysis of departmental records.

**Rationale:** Measure reflects stated expectations of the Ministers with responsibility for Regional Development. The department is unable to provide measures for planned new programs until they have been developed and approved.

**Data Source:** The department's Regional Development, Local Government and Regional Recovery Division Central Data Store, Financial Management System and the Department of Industry, Science and Resources Grants Hub.

Outcome 3 – Program 3.2		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
19. Financial assistance is provided to local government in accordance with the <u>Local Government</u> (Financial Assistance) Act 1995 <sup>19</sup>	Assistance is provided on time and aligned with the budget appropriation	Assistance is provided on time and aligned with the budget appropriation

Methodology: Analysis of departmental records.

**Rationale:** To ensure that residents across Australia have access to a standard level of local government services. The Local Government (Financial Assistance) Act 1995, section 9 (State entitlements for local government purposes) and section 12 (Additional funding for local government purposes), sets out the specific requirements, method of calculation and timing for payments to be made.

**Data Source:** Departmental records including the Financial Management System and Parliamentary Document Management System (PDMS), both updated as payments are made.

42



# Key Activity: Advise on and deliver City Deals and Regional Deals

Outcome 3 – Programs 3.1 and 3.3		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
20. Number of City and Regional Deal commitments on track to be completed within agreed timeframes	Projects are delivered according to agreed milestones	Projects are delivered according to agreed milestones

Note: Combines Measures 36 and 37 from 2021–22 Corporate Plan (p.34).

Methodology: Analysis of departmental records tracking project milestones and partners' reporting.

**Rationale:** To effectively track the progress of City and Regional Deals scheduled to be negotiated and ensure commitments are on track. Each deal has its own commitments and outcomes specific to the local area.

**Data Source:** Data will vary depending on the different milestones negotiated as part of the individual deals. Quantitative data will be sought from the Australian Bureau of Statistics, and qualitative data collection processes will be developed in conjunction with experts. The balance will depend on the type of initiative being measured, with some projects more amenable to quantitative measurement and others to qualitative.

# Key Activity: Progress key initiatives and monitor whole-of-government implementation of the northern Australia agenda

Outcome 3 – Program 3.4		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
21. Implementing key initiatives of the northern Australia agenda	Progress implementation of key initiatives according to agreed milestones	Forward targets to be set following implementation of monitoring, evaluation and reporting framework in late 2022

Methodology: Analysis of departmental records tracking project milestones and partners' reporting.

**Rationale:** The 2015 White Paper on Developing Northern Australia acknowledged northern Australia's strategic importance and potential to be an economic powerhouse. The northern Australia agenda requires a sustained and long-term commitment for the region to reach its full economic potential. Building on the framework set out in the 2015 White Paper the next 5-year plan, will deliver jobs and grow economic and community resilience. Current initiatives focus on targeted effort for regional growth; enabling greater digital connectivity in northern Australia; and grants to scale-up and diversify businesses and other organisations.

**Data Source:** Departmental records of project tracking and partners' reporting. In forward years, analysis of performance against indicators identified in the strategy's monitoring and evaluation framework will be used.

## **Effectiveness measure**

# Effectiveness Measure: Facilitating economic growth and diversification and increased liveability in northern Australia

Outcome 3 – Program 3.4		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
22. Impact of projects supported by the Northern Australia Infrastructure Facility (NAIF) during the financial year, indicated through:	Year-on-year increase	Year-on-year increase
a) total number of new jobs created		
b) total number of new Indigenous jobs created		

**Methodology:** Analysis of NAIF jobs data from project proponents for each individual project. Detailed information is available at <a href="https://naif.gov.au/what-we-do/public-benefit/">https://naif.gov.au/what-we-do/public-benefit/</a>

**Rationale:** Through NAIF's investment, the Australian Government is helping facilitate private and public sector contributions to the development of northern Australian infrastructure projects, including physical infrastructure, assets, technology or facilities that contribute to the establishment or enhancement of economic activity in the region. Recognising that developing northern Australia is a long-term agenda, this measure represents an early indicator of the impact NAIF-supported infrastructure will have on northern Australian jobs. The creation of new infrastructure not only directly drives economic development in northern Australia but also contributes to the development of its skills base and supports the creation of sustainable, ongoing jobs and economic growth.

**Data Source:** Data on project outputs, including jobs created, is calculated on a per project basis and updated as NAIF investment decisions are updated.



44

# Changes in our performance information since 2021–22 Corporate Plan

Following a regular review of our 2021–22 performance information, the following measures for Outcome 3 were either consolidated as they were subsets of the same measure **(Table 1)** or deleted **(Table 2)** 

#### Table 1: Consolidated Measures (2)

2021–22 Corporate Plan Measure	2022–23 Corporate Plan
36. Number of Regional Deal commitments on track to be completed within agreed timeframe	20. Number of City and Regional Deal commitments on track to be
37. Number of City Deal commitments on track to be completed within agreed timeframes (p. 34)	completed within agreed milestones

#### Table 2: Deleted measures (7)

2021–22 Corporate Plan Measure

One measure considered too low level, internal monitoring project/program management processes

- 40. Percentage of Regional Development Australia (RDA) Committees achieving agreed outcomes as demonstrated by:
  - a) Stakeholders satisfied with the performance of their RDA
  - b) Departmental review of RDA reporting (p. 35)

Two measures the department had limited to no control over the outcome or data was not available or reliable

- 39. Estimated number of jobs supported over the life of projects, from regional development projects underway during the financial year (based on proponent reported data) (p.35)
- 42. City Deals contributing to city: a) Productivity b) Liveability (p. 36)

Four measures relating to the National Water Grid Authority and water infrastructure purpose that was transferred to the Department of Climate Change, Energy, the Environment and Water from 1 July 2022

- 43. Progress of water infrastructure capital projects (p. 40)
- 44. Estimated number of construction and ongoing jobs supported over the life of the projects, from NWGF capital projects (p. 41)
- 45. Expected increase in the availability and reliability of water arising from projects receiving NWGF capital funding (p. 41)
- 46. Expected ongoing increase in gross value of agriculture and industrial production arising from projects receiving NWGF capital funding (p. 41)

# Significant contributors

Significant contributors	Contribution
Australian Government departments and agencies	Assist with regional policy and grant program development. Collaborating to implement the whole-of-government northern Australia Agenda
Australian Local Government Association (ALGA)	Partners with the department to inform policy and program design
Australian state and territory governments and local government authorities	Support communities through project implementation and delivery for Regional Recovery Partnerships; partner with the Australian Government for Regional and City Deals
Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry	Linking to drought programs and work undertaken by the Regional Investment Corporation to support agricultural communities
Department of Climate Change, Energy, the Environment and Water	Support state and territory investment in water infrastructure that will provide secure and affordable water to support the growth of regional economies
Foundation for Rural and Regional Renewal (FRRR)	Partners with the department to deliver regional grant programs
Local Government Professionals Australia (LG Pro)	Partners with the department to inform policy and program design
National Recovery and Resilience Agency (NRRA)	Linking to the delivery of initiatives to support economies and communities in regional and rural Australia impacted by floods, bushfires, storms, cyclones and drought
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)	Engages in international discussion relating to regional policy
Regional Australia Institute (RAI)	Provides research analysis and regional engagement services
Regional Development Australia (RDA) Committees	Facilitate regional economic development programs, outcomes, investments, local procurement and jobs

# Territories



Good governance and service delivery in the Australian territories including through the maintenance and improvement of the laws and services for non-self-governing territories, and the overarching legislative framework for self-governing territories



Providing governance frameworks and services to support communities in the territories

## **Environment and risk**

#### Providing the essentials and supporting effective governance

Australia's territories are geographically, economically and socially diverse. We are committed to delivering equitable services to all territories. We ensure access to critical state-level services through partnerships with Western Australia, Queensland, New South Wales and the Australian Capital Territory, together with private providers.

Across Australia's

non-self-governing territories, we provide essential infrastructure. We also fund and deliver national and state-level services to residents of Norfolk Island, Christmas Island, the Cocos (Keeling) Islands and the Jervis Bay Territory. We administer the Ashmore and Cartier Islands and the Coral Sea Islands territories, and manage national interests in the Australian Capital Territory and the Northern Territory.

Communications infrastructure is integral to the continued prosperity of our territories. In the Jervis Bay Territory, we have recently supported the roll out of the NBN to improve stable access to the internet. We are also investing in faster internet for delivery of education and healthcare services for Norfolk Island.

We continue to work with the local communities and service providers to deliver fit-for-purpose long-term infrastructure solutions for each of the territories. In 2022–23, we will deliver improvements to

#### Supporting economic growth

Our work in the territories supports economic growth. For example, we underwrite passenger and air freight services to the external territories, which is critical to supporting tourism-based economies. In addition, Christmas Island is undergoing economic transition following fluctuations the ageing electricity network on Norfolk Island to enable regular and reliable electricity supply; provide a cost-efficient and sustainable potable water solution for the Jervis Bay Territory by connecting the water supply to the neighbouring Shoalhaven City Council and; improve water security and the treatment of wastewater for the Cocos (Keeling) Islands community by installing a seawater reverse osmosis desalination plant and upgrading the existing wastewater treatment plant. Capital works can be extremely difficult to deliver to the territories, owing to geographical and logistical challenges posed by their remoteness. The islands have restricted access to engineering, labour and supply chains available in mainland Australia, and COVID-19 has further constrained the market.

Arrangements in the territories are unique and at different stages of maturity. For example, the framework in Indian Ocean Territories has been in operation for some decades and reflects a settled and stable status: however, the framework for Norfolk Island is new and is still evolving. We are working to improve work, health and safety in Norfolk Island, and working closely with our contracted providers to assure the standard of safety across the many engagements the Commonwealth has with local businesses.

in immigration detention activity and uncertainty about the expected downturn in phosphate mining in the medium to long-term. Continued work towards a strategic environmental assessment on Christmas Island will facilitate future development opportunities.

# Key activities and effectiveness measures

We deliver 3 key activities for providing governance frameworks and services in the territories:



Provide essential infrastructure and fund and deliver services to residents of Norfolk Island, Christmas Island, the Cocos (Keeling) Islands and the Jervis Bay Territory



Administer the Ashmore and Cartier Islands and the Coral Sea Island Territories, and manage national interests in the ACT and NT



Improve the legislative frameworks in the territories, to optimise governance arrangements and to support **improvements** in the service delivery landscape.

## **Effectiveness measures**

# Effectiveness Measure: Providing governance frameworks and services in the Territories

Outcome 4 – Program 4.1		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
23. Commonwealth legal and governance frameworks in Australia's territories are appropriate for the protection and wellbeing of the communities	Legal and governance frameworks are updated and improved in the financial year with territory-specific modifications as necessary	Legal and governance frameworks are updated and improved in the financial year with territory-specific modifications as necessary

**Methodology:** Review of state-type frameworks and advice from state service providers. Information about the state-level laws that have been applied in the territories is published on the Federal Register of Legislation as soon as a law is registered. The Federal Register of Legislation also records all ordinances specifically made for the Jervis Bay Territory.

**Rationale:** The residents of Australia's territories have a need for legal and governance frameworks that provide rights and responsibilities similar to other Australian residents and citizens.

Data Source: Assessment of state-type frameworks and advice from state service providers.

Outcome 4 – Program 4.1		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26

Service delivery arrangements

and contracts in financial year

deliver services and essential

infrastructure comparable to

mainland Australia

24. Communities in the external territories and Jervis Bay Territory have services and essential infrastructure comparable to mainland Australia

#### Methodology:

- Analysis of contracts in place with service providers
- Analysis of data on the My School website specifically teacher to student ratio and funding provided per student
- Review of the most recent comparative analysis of health services provided in the territories.

**Rationale:** The residents of Australia's external territories and the Jervis Bay Territory have a need for essential services and infrastructure. This measure is directly relevant and assists stakeholders to judge achievement against our territories purpose.

#### Data Source:

- Contracts with service providers (state partners, councils and private providers) outline the services being provided in each territory
- My School Website<sup>20</sup>

Health Services reviews/reports commissioned by the department.

#### Case Study: Supporting sea freight availability for Norfolk Island

The department continues to actively progress planning to support the availability of freight services to Norfolk Island, and is working closely with industry and the Norfolk Island community to identify solutions to address the current supply chain challenges.

In this case study, the department will report on the replacement of the ageing lighterage vessels on Norfolk Island used to transfer cargo from freight ships to the pier. The replacement of the vessels will improve freight operations with larger more powerful vessels, making the transfer for freight more efficient and safer and assisting the Australian Government to meet the due diligence requirements under Work Health and Safety legislation.



Service delivery arrangements and

services and essential infrastructure

contracts in financial year deliver

comparable to similar Australian

mainland communities

# Significant contributors

Portfolio entity	Contribution
National Capital Authority*	Administers the Commonwealth's ongoing interests in the Australian Capital Territory and operates under the <u>Australian Capital Territory Planning and</u> Land Management Act 1988 <sup>21</sup>

\* Non-corporate Commonwealth entity

Significant contributors	Contribution
Australian Federal Police	Provide policing services to the Australian Capital Territory and Australia's territories
Commonwealth Director of Public Prosecutions	Provide prosecution and coroner assistance services in Norfolk Island
Department of Climate Change, Energy, the Environment and Water	Delivers policy, program and regulatory activities that impact land in the territories, including the environmental impacts. Administers Christmas Island, Pulu Keeling National Parks, Norfolk Island National Park, the Norfolk Island Marine Park and Indian Ocean Territories Marine Parks
Department of Defence	Delivers policy, program and regulatory activities that impact land in the territories. Administers Crown land in the Jervis Bay Territory and will contribute to the revitalisation of essential water infrastructure, and upgrade of the Cocos Keeling Islands runway
Department of Health	Contributes to the development of the ACT Asbestos Disease Assistance Scheme and provides funding to Norfolk Island Health and Residential Aged Care Services (NIHRACS) through the Multi-Purpose Service (MPS) program and Primary Health Networks (PHN)
Federal Court of Australia	Provide critical judicial and registry services to the Norfolk Island Supreme Court
Norfolk Island Health and Residential Aged Care Services (NIHRACS)	Provide state-type functions, on behalf of the Commonwealth, to control, administer and manage the NIHRACS facility, ensure effective and efficient delivery of health services to the Norfolk Island community and to strive to maintain and improve the health of persons on Norfolk Island
Norfolk Island Regional Council (NIRC)	Provide state-type functions, on behalf of the Commonwealth, including courts, registry and licensing services, emergency services, public health and spatial policy and planning. Provides other service delivery functions for Commonwealth interests
Private service providers	Contributes to providing the territories with comparable services and essential infrastructure to mainland Australia through providing specialist service delivery, including state-type services, capital works and consultancy advice to territories
QId, NSW, WA, NT and ACT governments	Contribute to providing territories with comparable services and essential infrastructure to mainland Australia
Shire of Christmas Island and Shire of Cocos (Keeling) Islands	Provide local government-type services to communities, including waste management and town planning
Wreck Bay Aboriginal Community Council (WBACC)	Provide local government-type services to their communities, including waste removal, land care and maintenance. Considers issues relating to management of Aboriginal land in the Jervis Bay Territory

# **Communications connectivity**



52

Promote an innovative and competitive communications sector through policy development, advice and program delivery, so all Australians can realise the full potential of digital technologies and communications services

Enabling people in Australia to connect to effective, safe communications services. Enabling investment in communications technologies, for inclusiveness and sustainable economic growth

# **Environment and risk**

# Connecting Australians and businesses through safe and resilient communications access

Access to communications services continues to be integral to an inclusive, productive and cohesive society — from the satellites delivering remote educational services, to productive water management systems. Communications infrastructure and the digital technologies it enables, provide an important foundation for a modern, resilient and productive economy. Demand for communications services is growing rapidly and is supplied by a large number of providers in a competitive market.

The sudden changes in work patterns resulting from responses to the impacts of COVID-19 demonstrated the essential role digital communications play in supporting government and businesses, allowing people to stay connected and support social cohesion and inclusion. The rapid digitalisation across the economy triggered by COVID–19 is enduring and has prompted shifts to new service delivery models such as telehealth. The onset of COVID–19 also drove rapid and enduring changes in consumer retail behaviour, with postal providers investing in their networks to support a maturing domestic eCommerce sector to keep Australian consumers and businesses connected.

Recent natural disasters and emergencies have also highlighted increasing community reliance on communications and connectivity for everything from emergency notifications through to banking.

We work with industry to make sure that our telecommunications companies are able to keep investing in new digital connectivity. This includes working with NBN to enable it to upgrade the capacity of its networks and upgrade the technologies used in the network, to provide high speed broadband services across Australia. Spectrum remains a valuable finite input which is essential to the delivery of many types of digital services. Spectrum underpins broadcasting and communications technologies, both terrestrial and satellite. Demand for spectrum is increasing as technologies advance and consumer consumption increases. Having a fit for purpose regulatory framework that establishes a fair and transparent approach to spectrum allocation is an important part of our work.

Advances in digital connectivity, such as 5G services, will play an important enabling role in the recovery, development and transition of the Australian economy. At the same time, global and domestic communications sectors continue to undergo major structural changes. There will also be an increased focus on the resilience and security of networks.

Our work ensures Australians are able to access communications and postal services and investment in services continues. This includes arrangements providing access to broadband, telephone, broadcasting and payphone services nationally. For example, digital connectivity is expanded under the Mobile Black Spot Program and other place-based communications solutions such as the Regional Connectivity Program.

We provide the support and safeguards to protect vulnerable members of the community, through the Universal Service Guarantee (USG), the National Relay Service and the Regional Tech Hub. There is strong community and industry interest in improving the delivery of USG services to better align with consumer preferences and position them for the future. Australia Post also has obligations to provide accessible postal services across Australia.

#### Keeping pace with digital transformation

Digital transformation is providing new opportunities and challenges globally. Productivity investments, such as automation, are critical to protecting and supporting growth in the future. We will continue to focus on increasing speeds available on the NBN and supporting industry in their uptake and investment of new technologies, including through the \$480 million NBN Fixed Wireless and Satellite Upgrade Program. This program will significantly improve broadband services to over one million premises in regional, remote and peri-urban areas in the NBN fixed wireless and satellite footprints.

Industry is focusing on capital investments enabling new technologies such as 5G.

Industry structures are changing with mobile network operators divesting themselves of their tower assets. New satellite systems, such as Low Earth Orbit Satellites (LEOs) continue to promise a step change in universal delivery of satellite services.

The Universal Service Obligation (USO) is critical to many consumers and enables the delivery of their standard voice service, but it is still often delivered using ageing copper technology. As technologies change and consumer behaviour changes so too will the provision of universal services. We will assist to make sure changes from the current USO arrangements are undertaken in an orderly way

that supports the service needs of customers.

Many regional viewers rely on satellites to receive their free-to-air service – the government funded Viewer Access Satellite Television (VAST) service. The future role of such a service is increasingly important due to digital disruption.

Digital services continue to grow and expand into more aspects of life and end of business. New digital services continue to emerge and disrupt or transform industries. We work to understand the impacts of digital disruption on the media sector and, where necessary support, the ongoing provision of services, such as public interest news services, by the disrupted sector.

#### Strengthening our legislative and regulatory environment

We develop legislation and regulations to support competitive markets. While online platforms are global in nature, our legislation and regulations place a priority on the safety of Australians in the online environment. It is critical that Australia has a fit-for-purpose legislative framework, especially as the online environment is characterised by rapidly changing technology, platforms and services where consumers, particularly children, are quick to take up new products, applications and services.

We are strengthening our online safety legislative regime, under the Online Safety Act 2021<sup>22</sup>, to support Australians to engage confidently and safely in an online world, and meet the community's expectations in the interests of child safety and protecting them from harmful content.

As the Australian online environment continues to evolve, so does the way Australians view, consume and engage with media. We provide advice to government on how to promote information integrity online and mechanisms to achieve this. We advise on policy measures to support public interest journalism and community broadcasting, as well as delivering efficient and effective grant programs and services.

We are also progressing reforms to harmonise Australia's media regulations. We are consulting with industry on critical questions relating to technical, market, and consumer aspects of Australia's current and future television technology. This work will inform industry decisions for future investment, and government decisions for future regulatory frameworks. This includes the Broadcasting Services Act 1992 which regulates the delivery of radio and television programs (broadcasting services), and

the delivery of online and other content services.

Key legislation includes the Telecommunications Act 1997<sup>23</sup>, Telecommunications (Consumer Protection and Service Standards) Act 1999<sup>24</sup> and parts of the Competition and Consumer Act 2010<sup>25</sup> which collectively provide a framework for competition, consumer safeguards and sustainable investment in telecommunications. It also protects the privacy and security of communications, and enables the use of telecommunications information for public interest purposes.

We manage the NBN regulatory framework, which provides for oversight and effective use of the NBN, and the Radiocommunications Act 1992<sup>26</sup>, which provides for the efficient allocation and use of spectrum in the long-term public interest.

- 54
- 22 Available at: https://www.legislation.gov.au/Series/C2021A00076
- 23 Available at: https://www.legislation.gov.au/Series/C2004A05145
- 24 Available at: https://www.legislation.gov.au/Series/C2004A00441 25 Available at: https://www.legislation.gov.au/Series/C2004A00109
- 26
  - Available at: https://www.legislation.gov.au/Series/C2004A04465

# Key activities and output measures



## Key Activity: Implementing and administering programs that expand digital connectivity including the Mobile Black Spot Program, Peri-Urban Mobile Program and Regional Connectivity Program

(Note: New key activity reflecting the importance of delivering new and improved mobile coverage to regional areas)

Outcome 5 – Program 5.1		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
25. Amount of new and improved mobile coverage delivered in regions under the Mobile Black Spot Program	≥90% of total contracted (predictive) coverage is delivered through new assets for which asset completion reports are received in the financial year	≥90% of total contracted (predictive) coverage is delivered through new assets for which asset completion reports are received in the financial year

**Methodology:** Analysis of contracts and Asset Completion Reports (ACRs) to compare contracted coverage with delivered coverage across the program.

**Rationale:** A key objective of the Mobile Black Spot Program is to maximise the amount of new and improved mobile coverage being delivered to regional areas with poor or no existing coverage to ensure people living, working and travelling in the regions are able to realise the social and economic benefits of improved mobile coverage.

**Data Source:** Analysis of program contracts and asset completion reports to compare contracted coverage with delivered coverage across the program.

An ACR is submitted by the funding recipients following the completion of each contracted base station, typically one to 2 months after the base station is completed and on air. Each ACR is a stand-alone document.

## Key Activity: Provide advice to the government on communications policy and programs including regional and remote Australia

Outcome 5 – Program 5.1		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
26. Access to Viewer Access Satellite Television (VAST), for viewers in terrestrial blackspots to receive a direct-to-home free to air television safety net service	In each financial year, satellite free-to-air television services, including on-air availability requirements, maintained in accordance with the legislative and contractual arrangements	In each financial year, satellite free-to- air television services, including on-air availability requirements, maintained in accordance with the legislative and contractual arrangements

**Methodology:** Quarterly reporting from Regional Broadcasters against the key performance indicators in the Funding Deeds.

**Rationale:** Since 2010 (the digital switchover) the Australian Government has subsidised the costs of commercial free-to-air television channels on the Viewer Access Satellite Television (VAST) platform. VAST provides a satellite safety net service for viewers in terrestrial television blackspots. Approximately 250,000 Australian homes rely on VAST direct to home services, largely in regional and remote areas. Without government funding these Australians would no longer have access to a commercial free-to-air television broadcasting service.

**Data Source:** Eastern Australia Satellite Broadcasting (joint venture between Southern Cross Austereo and Imparja Television) and WA Satco (joint venture between WIN and Prime) quarterly reports.



# Key Activity: Provide policy advice and program delivery on the news and media industry

Outcome 5 – Program 5.1		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
27. Effectiveness of support for sustainability of news and media industry	<ul><li>100% of grant opportunities are published/announced and 100% of grant agreements executed are consistent with the program objectives</li><li>95% of eligible applicants received funds within 4 weeks of decision</li></ul>	Sustainability of the news and media industry improves Number of media organisations receiving grant funding and outcomes achieved from that funding

#### Methodology:

- Program design and administration complies with Commonwealth Grant Rules and Guidelines
- Program evaluations are undertaken.

Rationale: To ensure policy and programs resources are used effectively and efficiently.

#### Data Source:

- Smarty Grants
- Records of program decisions and execution of funding agreements.



# **Effectiveness measures**

# Effectiveness Measure: Enabling safe, effective and inclusive communications services and technologies

Outcome 5 – Program 5.1		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
28. Affordability of telecommunications services (mobile and fixed) on offer	Reporting in each financial year indicates affordability is maintained or increased	Reporting in each financial year indicates affordability is maintained or increased

**Methodology:** Analysis of the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission (ACCC) and affordability indexes tracked by the department.

**Rationale:** Affordability is an important element of ensuring that all Australians can access telecommunication services.

#### Data Source:

- Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) Consumer Price Index (quarterly) available for free through the ABS website
- ACCC Communications Market Report (annual) available for free through the ACCC website
- Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia Survey<sup>27</sup> general release data. Access to download must be granted through dataverse.

#### Case Study: 2022 International Telecommunication Union (ITU) Plenipotentiary Conference

The International Telecommunication Union (ITU) is the United Nations specialised agency that brings together governments and industry to support efficient, interoperable, accessible and affordable global telecommunication networks and services. Held every 4 years, the Plenipotentiary Conference is the ITU's predominant treaty-making conference that sets the Union's priorities for the term ahead.

At this year's Plenipotentiary Conference – to be held in Bucharest, Romania in September 2022 – Australia will seek re-election to the ITU's governing Council for the 2023–26 term. Australia will also advocate our domestic priorities and interests internationally, and pursue initiatives that promote an inclusive, open and accountable ITU where diverse stakeholders can share ideas and work collaboratively to bridge the digital divide.

In this case study, the department will measure success against the goals and objectives set out in Australia's agreed mandate, helping to connect Australians to global communications networks.





• 57

Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development, Communications and the Arts

#### Outcome 5 – Program 5.1

What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
29. Access to communications for people with a disability, indicated through:	Reporting in each financial year indicates access is maintained or improved	Reporting in each financial year indicates access is maintained or increased
a) National Relay Service (NRS) performance	NRS: Provider meets or exceeds contractual service levels	
<ul> <li>b) audio description implementation by the national broadcasters</li> </ul>	Audio description: National broadcasters provide no less than 14 hours per week, on average, of audio described	
<ul> <li>c) broadcaster captioning compliance</li> </ul>	content	
	Captioning: Broadcasters meet or exceed statutory captioning obligations	

**Methodology:** Analysis of NRS provider performance monthly reports; reporting on audio description (AD) from the national broadcasters; and the ACMA's annual captioning compliance report, published on its website each December for the prior financial year.

**Rationale:** Enabling people in Australia to connect to effective communications services and technologies, for inclusiveness and sustainable economic growth. The contracted NRS and designated AD and legislated captioning requirements promote and support the ability of people to connect to comms and technology. The department's objectives of inclusiveness and sustainable economic growth are underpinned by this action.

Data Source: Sources to consult on the impact of the NRS

- Provider performance monthly and quarterly reports
- Sources to consult on the impact of audio description policy work
- Reporting on AD from the national broadcasters
- Sources to consult on the impact of captioning regulatory policy
- ACMA's annual captioning compliance report, published on its website each December for the prior financial year.

Outcome 5 – Program 5.1		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
30. Levels of consumer complaint in telecommunications and post sectors	Twelve month reporting shows maintained or improved consumer experience	Twelve month reporting shows maintained or improved consumer experience

Note: Combines Measures 62 and 63 from 2021–22 Corporate Plan (p. 52).

**Methodology:** Analysis of reporting on telecommunications complaints from the Telecommunications Industry Ombudsman (TIO) and the ACMA. Analysis of reporting from the Postal Industry Ombudsman (PIO) about Australia Post and analysis of broader postal trends.

**Rationale:** Qualitative data on complaints enables us to provide a descriptive assessment of the state of telecommunications and postal services and the appropriateness of consumer safeguards. A high volume of complaints may indicate dissatisfaction with services, consumer experience and complaints management (therefore a possible indication about the effectiveness of consumer safeguards, including compliance). Complaints escalated to the PIO are also indicative of dissatisfaction with Australia Post's internal handling of complaints, and may not be strictly related to dissatisfaction with postal services.

#### Data Source:

- TIO reporting on complaints made to it by consumers
- ACMA reporting on complaints made directly to telecommunications service providers
- Commonwealth Ombudsman publishes its annual report in October, including PIO reporting on investigation complaints about postal and similar services provided by Australia Post and Private Postal Operators.

# Changes in our performance information since 2021–22 Corporate Plan

Following a regular review of our 2021–22 performance information, the following measures for Outcome 5 were either consolidated as they were subsets of the same measure **(Table 1)** or deleted **(Table 2)**.

#### Table 1: Consolidated Measures (2)

2021–22 Corporate Plan Measure	2022–23 Corporate Plan
62. Complaints data: telecommunications (p. 52)	30. Levels of consumer complaint in
63. Complaints data: post (p. 52)	telecommunications and post sectors

#### Table 2: Deleted measures (14)

#### 2021–22 Corporate Plan Measure

#### Five measures considered too low level, internal monitoring project/program management processes

51. NBN Co Loan interest payments and principal repayments (p. 49)

- 52. Funds administered as part of the Regional Broadband Scheme (RBS) are distributed (p.49)
- 53. Effectiveness of international engagement on communications matters (p. 50)
- 64. NBN consumer experience (p. 53)

65. Percentage of premises in fixed line areas able to access gigabit speeds (p. 53)

# Seven measures the department had limited to no control over the outcome or data was not available or reliable

50. Provide oversight of NBN Co (p. 49)

- 54. Percentage of Community Service Obligations (CSOs) met by Australia Post (p. 50)
- 55. Percentage of telecommunications Universal Service Obligation (USO) targets met by Telstra (p. 50)
- 56. Percentage of contractual arrangements for the Triple Zero Emergency Call Service delivered by Telstra (p. 50)
- 59. Number of online safety complaints by type, and percentage change (p. 52)
- 67. Investment as a proportion of output in the communications sector (p. 53)

68. GDP contribution enabled by the communications sector (p. 53)

#### Two programs terminated during the prior period

49. Progress implementing the Online Safety Act (p. 49)

66. NBN complex connection premises completed (p. 53)

# Significant contributors

Portfolio entities	Contribution
Australian Broadcasting Corporation and Special Broadcasting Service **	Provide broadcasting services as the Australian national broadcasters and delivers content and diversity
Australian Communications and Media Authority (ACMA) **	Regulates communications and media services and markets and promotes industry compliance
	Regulates the Australian online gambling, broadcasting and telecommunications industry, including spectrum access and allocation, Universal Service Obligation (USO), Statutory Infrastructure Provider laws, and other consumer safeguards. Manages radio frequency interference under the Radiocommunications Act 1992 <sup>28</sup> and administers the Regional Broadband Scheme
Australian Postal Corporation **	Provides national and international postal services, including mail and parcel delivery. Provides financial, identity and retail services through its post office network and is the designated operator under the Acts of the Universal Postal Union. Provides regular reporting on its financial and regulatory performance and input on postal policy issues
NBN Co Limited (NBN Co) ***	Operates the National Broadband Network which supplies wholesale high speed broadband services to premises across Australia

\*\* Corporate Commonwealth entity

\*\*\* Government Business Enterprise (GBE)

Significant contributors	Contribution
.au Domain Administration (auDA)	Endorsed by the Commonwealth to administer the .au country code top level domain, covering both domestic domain name industry engagement, as well as championing Australia's domain name industry interests internationally
Asia-Pacific Telecommunity (APT)	The Australian Government is a member of APT and supports regional telecommunications outcomes through promoting regional cooperation
Australian Communications Consumer Action Network (ACCAN)	Engages with the department on telecommunications consumer issues and regulation, and provides consumer representation
Australian Competition and Consumer Commission (ACCC)	Monitors and regulates telecommunications competition, access and advertising/industry claims
Australian state and territory governments	Contribute to delivering the department's programs; contribute to policy and regulation processes where of interest, particularly Emergency Services Organisations
Broadcasting and media industry entities	Deliver news, sport, entertainment and cultural content to Australian audiences consistent with objectives of legislation
Classification Board and Classification Review Board	Provides regulatory decisions under the National Classification Scheme
Commonwealth partner agencies	Contribution to divisional policies and programs, particularly those which cut across government
Communications Alliance	Engages with the department on telecommunications policy issues and leads industry co-regulation through code development

Significant contributors	Contribution
Concentrix	Contributes by providing communications services via the National Relay Service (NRS) to those who are deaf, hard of hearing or speech impaired. Registration supports the sustainability of the NRS ensuring only eligible users are accessing the service, and enabling the department to communicate directly with users about the NRS
Digital platform businesses	Provide a range of digital enabling and communications services.
	Assist with the development of contemporary regulatory frameworks that respond to emerging challenges of the digital environment
eSafety Commissioner	Regulates and promotes online safety outcomes
International Telecommunication Union (ITU)	The Australian Government is a member of the ITU, supports diplomacy and cooperation for telecommunications, and information communications technology as a UN specialised agency. Promotes and advises on new standards and practices that improve connectivity worldwide
Telecommunications industry entities	Operate within the regulatory framework administered by the department to supply Australia's telecommunications through management and investments in their networks.
	Provision of technical, operational and commercial feedback and evidence to inform policy considerations
Telstra	Supplies standard telephone services and payphones to premises across Australia under the regulatory USO and associated contract with the Commonwealth



# **Creativity and culture**



62

Participation in, and access to, Australia's arts and culture through developing and supporting cultural expression

Supporting sustainable and inclusive creative and cultural sectors, and protecting and promoting Australian content and culture

# **Environment and risk**

A national cultural policy and strategic long-term support for Australia's arts and entertainment sector is essential for affirming the centrality of the arts to our national identity and ensuring that the vast diversity of Australian stories are told.

#### Developing and implementing a new cultural policy

The Australian Government has committed to delivering a comprehensive national cultural policy that provides a framework to support the recovery of the sector and to build on its strengths and resilience.

The arts and creative sector has been seriously affected by the pandemic and will take some time to recover. The arts are diverse. Ways of working and organisational structures, income sources and connections with allied industries such as tourism differ across the sector. Digital literacy and engagement and the ability to respond to disruption are also variable. The arts workforce is highly casualised, with people often working multiple jobs, and at risk of poor mental health.

The national cultural policy will serve as a framework for delivering the government's election commitments, including the restoration of dialogue between all levels of government, examining an insurance system for the sector, promoting Australian content on streaming platforms, protecting performers and audiences from ticket scalping, increasing protections for First Nations visual art and to invest in infrastructure for the sector.

The development of the national cultural policy will use Creative Australia as the starting point. A key priority for the development of the national cultural policy is that it will be informed by a thorough, nationwide consultation process in each state and territory and delivered by the end of 2022.

Consultation is to be based on the following 5 pillars:

- First Nations first
- A place for every story
- The centrality of the artist
- Strong institutions
- Reaching the audience.



#### Continued recovery from the pandemic

The arts and cultural industries are continuing to recover from the pandemic with activity resuming and audiences returning. The sector has shown the capacity to recover with the lifting of restrictions and the number of creative and performing arts jobs is now higher than its pre–pandemic levels with jobs increasing by 15% to mid-February 2022 in the Creative and Performing Arts sector.<sup>29</sup>

Live performances are coming back with the lifting of restrictions, although weaker consumer confidence across the economy is still translating into lower ticket sales for some events. The availability of venues (due to event rescheduling) and technical skills (as workers moved to other sectors during the pandemic) may affect the pace of recovery. Many artists and arts workers contest with insecure work, and the national cultural policy will examine greater protections for casual and gig workers.

The Australian screen sector enjoyed a record high in 2020–21. Screen Australia's Drama Report showed expenditure of over \$1.9 billion, driven by both Australian and international productions. Australia continues to be an attractive destination for footloose productions, providing significant employment and opportunities for many businesses.

Overall, we anticipate that the effects of the pandemic will continue to be felt over the next 12 months and we will continue to monitor the impacts on individuals, organisations and businesses. Recovery will also depend on allied sectors such as tourism. International tourism is expected to gradually resume over the period of this plan, with ongoing consequences for arts and entertainment organisations reliant on the international tourist market, while providing opportunities to increase the value of domestic cultural tourism.

# Technology and innovation continue to drive structural change in the sector

Digital technologies continue to reshape engagement between artists and audiences, presenting opportunities for greater collaboration across commercial and not-for-profit creative activity.

The growing intersection between arts, creative content and digital modes, is fostering a diversity of stories and enabling innovation. This development is enhanced through our investment in building the creative and digital skills Australia needs, and our regulatory frameworks for Australian content and classification. The delivery of the new digital games tax offset creates opportunities for Australia to increase its market share in the rapidly expanding global digital games sector, with flow-on benefits for other industries and applications benefitting from the investment in digital and creative talent.

<sup>29</sup> Bureau of Communications, Arts and Regional Research (BCARR) analysis of Australian Bureau of Statistics Weekly Payroll Jobs and Wages in Australia data, week ending 12 February 2022, released 10 March 2022.

#### Making the arts accessible to all Australians

Beyond the inherent value of cultural and creative endeavours, the arts are a powerful mechanism for bringing people together and promoting diversity and inclusiveness. There are reports of higher wellbeing among Australians who engage with the arts<sup>30</sup>. The arts continue to be perceived as vital to community recovery, providing an avenue for healing, joy, and social connection during stressful times.<sup>31</sup> Arts and entertainment also advance Australia's national interests and reputation, and can contribute to addressing broader policy challenges such as health, youth engagement, urban renewal and regional liveability. We are focused on making the arts accessible for all Australians, whether they live in cities or the regions.

An important aspect of our work is supporting and showcasing the unique contributions of Indigenous cultural heritage, arts and languages. We work to build sustainable economic opportunities for Indigenous artists and arts workers, while safeguarding cultural practices. We also maintain an ongoing commitment to repatriate Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander ancestral remains and secret sacred objects to support healing and reconciliation.

# Culture and content that is widely participated in, inclusive and accessible

We recognise the importance of supporting our national broadcasters, to keep communities informed and connected, as well as to support Australian stories on our screens.

We seek to ensure high-quality creative content is accessible by

all Australians. Our regulatory frameworks for classification and Australian content is integral to this. We will seek an appropriate balance between supporting industry sustainability and providing protections for the community.

<sup>30</sup> C. Davies, M. Knuiman and M. Rosenberg (2016), "The art of being mentally healthy: a study to quantify the relationship between recreational arts engagement and mental well-being in the general population," BMC Public Health, 16, Available at: https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12889-015-2672-7.

<sup>31</sup> Australia Council 2022. Audience Outlook Monitor – March 2022.

# Key activities and output measures



Key Activity: Deliver policy and programs that support the cultural and creative sectors and enable all Australians to access and participate in cultural and creative activities

Outcome 6 – Program 6.1		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
31. Progress against the National Arts and Disability Associated Plan	The National Arts and Disability Strategy is renewed and implemented as a Commonwealth-only National Arts and Disability Associated Plan including updating and maintaining the arts and disability resource hub	National Arts and Disability Associated Plan is implemented, including maintaining the arts and disability resource hub

Methodology: Analysis of departmental records including the arts and disability resource hub.

**Rationale:** This measure will allow a qualitative assessment of the impacts of our policies and programs in enabling Australians with a disability to access, and participate in, cultural and creative activities.

#### Data Source:

- Office for the Arts records for renewing the National Arts and Disability Associated Plan
- <u>Arts and disability resource hub<sup>32</sup></u>, managed by the Office for the Arts
- Office for the Arts records of engagement with the Department of Social Services
- Office for the Arts promotion of annual activities for International Day of People with Disability: <u>www.arts.gov.au</u> and @artsculturegov.

Outcome 6 – Program 6.1		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
32. Number of students enrolled in courses at national performing arts training organisations	≥800 students in each calendar year	≥800 students in each calendar year

Methodology: Analysis of training organisations' regular progress reports to the department.

**Rationale:** To assess the number of student enrolments to the National Performing Arts Training Organisations. Operational funding is provided to 7 National Performing Arts Training Organisations to provide training and career pathways for Australian performing artists.

Data Source: Departmental records and progress reports from training organisations.

Outcome 6 – Program 6.1		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
33. Number of payments made to claimants (including authors, illustrators and publishers) through lending rights	≥16,000 payments to claimants in each financial year	≥16,000 payments to claimants in each financial year

Methodology: Analysis of data from the department's Lending Rights System.

**Rationale:** To assess the support provided under the Public and Educational Lending Right schemes, measuring their reach (how many payments are made to creators and publishers) and value (the funding provided in the program year to claimants).

**Data Source:** The Lending Rights System, including claimants data and current and historical payment information for program years.



# Key Activity: Deliver policies and programs to support Australian cultural heritage, including Indigenous cultural heritage, arts, languages and repatriation

Outcome 6 – Program 6.1		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
34. Number of art centres and art fairs funded through the Indigenous Visual Arts Industry Support (IVAIS) program	≥80 centres in the financial year	≥80 centres in the financial year

Methodology: Analysis of data from the SmartyGrants grants management system.

**Rationale:** To provide information about the outputs of the IVAIS program, which provides funding to Indigenous visual arts organisations in order to support a professional, viable and ethical Indigenous visual arts industry.

Data Source: SmartyGrants and departmental records.

Outcome 6 – Program 6.1			
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26	
<ul> <li>35. Repatriation activities that support:</li> <li>a) securing new international agreements and facilitation of the repatriation of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander ancestral remains (ancestors)</li> </ul>	Activities are responsive to domestic and international negotiations	Activities are responsive to domestic and international negotiations	
<ul> <li>b) funding agreements executed under the Indigenous Repatriation Program         <ul> <li>Museum Grants and facilitation of the repatriation of ancestors and secret sacred objects</li> </ul> </li> </ul>			

**Methodology:** Analysis of data obtained through the Indigenous Repatriation Program.

**Rationale:** To provide information about the activities conducted to support repatriations facilitated under the Indigenous Repatriation Program. This consists of international repatriation administered directly through the department and the Indigenous Repatriation Program – Museum Grants, which provides funding to 8 Australian museums to support their respective repatriation programs.

**Data Source:** Data is collated and aggregated through department program management systems including SmartyGrants (administration of Museum Grants) and departmental records (other work through the Indigenous Repatriation Program).

## **Effectiveness measures**

# Effectiveness Measure: Protecting and promoting Australian content and classification

Outcomes 5 and 6 – Programs 5.1 and 6.1		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
36. Effectiveness of the current Australian content and classification frameworks	<ul> <li>Reporting in each financial year shows organisations are meeting or exceeding statutory obligations:</li> <li>a) Australian content quota compliance and the existence of public data on Australian content available on streaming video on demand services</li> <li>b) 100% of Classification decisions by the Classification Board and Classification Review Board made and published on the National Classification Database within statutory timeframes</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Reporting in each financial year shows frameworks are effective, based on:</li> <li>a) Australian content quota compliance and the existence of public data on Australian content available on streaming video on demand services</li> <li>b) 100% of Classification decisions by the Classification Board and Classification Review Board made and published on the National Classification Database within statutory timeframes</li> </ul>

#### Methodology:

- Analysis of reporting by Australian Communications and Media Authority (ACMA)
- Analysis of reporting by the Classification Board and Classification Review Board and reporting of time between notification of self-classification tool decision and publication of decisions on the National Classification Database.

**Rationale:** The measure provides information of broadcasters' compliance with Australian content quotas and the extent to which streaming video on demand services are reporting on their investment in Australian content.

The National Classification Scheme provides that, generally, every film and computer game, and some publications, (unless exempt from classification) should be classified before being available for sale or hire. Classification Board decisions are required to be made within a specified time as prescribed in the Classification Act and Regulations.

In line with the Classification (Publications, Films and Computer Games) Act 1995, decisions of approved industry self-classification tools are taken to be decisions of the Classification Board. Self-classification tools require the department to maintain Application Programming Interface (API) systems to ensure that tool decisions are published on the National Classification Database.

#### Data Source:

- Compliance reports published on the ACMA website. Voluntary reporting by streaming video on demand services published on the ACMA website
- Classification Board and Classification Review Board Annual Reports and contractual reporting required in relation to approved self-classification tool decisions.



#### Effectiveness Measure: Supporting inclusive creative and cultural sectors

Outcome 6 – Program 6.1			
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26	
37. Impact of our activities to support Indigenous visual arts, languages and culture indicated through the number of Indigenous language centres and Indigenous art centres funded, the number of arts workers employed and artists active with funded art centres	<ul> <li>Reporting in each financial year shows:</li> <li>a) ≥20 language centres in the financial year funded</li> <li>b) ≥450 Indigenous art centre workers employed; and</li> <li>c) ≥8000 artists engaged</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Reporting in each financial year shows:</li> <li>a) ≥20 language centres in the financial year funded</li> <li>b) ≥450 Indigenous art centre workers employed; and</li> <li>c) ≥8000 artist engaged in report year</li> </ul>	

Methodology: Analysis of data from the SmartyGrants grants management system.

**Rationale:** To provide information about the activities supporting Indigenous cultural expression through the Indigenous Languages and Arts (ILA) program. This consists of annual operational funding for a network of Indigenous language centres that support capturing, nurturing and revitalising Indigenous languages; and funding activities supporting traditional and contemporary Indigenous art forms (excluding visual arts) through an annual open competitive grant opportunity.

Data Source: SmartyGrants and departmental records, including grant funding reports.

#### Case Study: International Decade of Indigenous Languages 2022–2032

The United Nations has designated the period between 2022 and 2032 as the International Decade of Indigenous Languages. The Australian Government is taking a leadership role and has secured a place on the Global Task Force for the International Decade. Our participation will embed a best-practice approach to working in partnership with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people to improve outcomes for Australia's Indigenous languages.

In this case study, the department will report on the recently established International Decade of Indigenous Languages Decade Directions Group, which promotes direct dialogue and partnership between Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and the Australian Government. This aims to ensure that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander voices are at the centre of actions taken by government to support the International Decade.

In 2022–23 we will be working in partnership with the Directions Group to develop initiatives for the International Decade, including Australia's National Action Plan for the International Decade, which will localise the Global Action Plan developed for the Decade.

Over the forward years, our approach is consistent with the National Agreement on Closing the Gap, including the languages target (Target 16) and its Priority Reforms. These reforms are central to Closing the Gap and will change the way governments work with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and communities.



70

Outcome 6 – Program 6.1		
What will be measured?	Budget Year Target 2022–23	Forward Estimates Target 2023–26
<ul> <li>38. Impact of our arts and cultural activities to support regional access and participation, indicated through:</li> <li>a) projected audience numbers/participants involved with funded projects</li> </ul>	2021–22 was the first year of data capture. It is not envisaged that the numbers will increase each year, given the variety of projects funded and that the programs are competitive grant programs.	2021–22 was the first year of data capture. It is not envisaged that the numbers will increase each year, given the variety of projects funded and that the programs are competitive grant programs.
<ul> <li>b) number of regional/ remote locations that hosted funded projects</li> </ul>		

**Methodology:** Information collected from Office for the Arts programs that fund activities available to the public (as opposed to providing, for example, operational support for organisations, or capital funding).

**Rationale:** To provide information about the effectiveness of arts and cultural grant programs in supporting audience access in regional and remote Australia.

**Data Source:** Departmental program data will be sourced from SmartyGrants with Regional Arts Fund data provided by the program administrators Regional Arts Australia. Data will be compared between programs to ensure similar parameters are used to measure the result. Data will be combined from all relevant programs to a single result against the measure.



# Changes in our performance information since 2021–22 Corporate Plan

Following a regular review of our 2021–22 performance information, the following measures for Outcome 6 were either consolidated as they were subsets of the same measure **(Table 1)** or deleted **(Table 2)**.

#### Table 1: Consolidated Measures (5)

2021–22 Corporate Plan Measure	2022–23 Corporate Plan	
74. Number of Indigenous language centres funded under the Indigenous Languages and Arts (ILA) program (p. 58)	37. Impact of our activities to support Indigenous visual	
<ul> <li>81. Impact of our activities to support Indigenous cultural expression through languages and arts activities, indicated through:</li> <li>a) Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander languages being supported by Indigenous language centres</li> <li>b) Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander traditional and contemporary art forms (excluding Indigenous visual arts) being supported (p. 60)</li> </ul>	arts, languages and culture indicated through the number of Indigenous language centres and Indigenous art centres funded, the number of arts workers employed and artists active with funded art centres	
<ul> <li>78. Number of decisions made and proportion within statutory timeframes by (p. 59):</li> <li>a) Classification Board</li> <li>b) Classification Review Board</li> </ul>	36. Effectiveness of the current Australian content and classification frameworks	
<ul> <li>84. Effectiveness of the current Australian content framework, indicated through p. 62):</li> <li>a) Australian content quota compliance</li> <li>b) the existence of public data on Australian content available on streaming video on demand services</li> </ul>		
<ul><li>85. Effectiveness of the current copyright framework, indicated through (p. 62):</li><li>a) amount of copyright distributions paid to creators by the copyright collecting societies</li><li>b) annual Consumer Survey on Online Copyright Infringement</li></ul>		

#### Table 2: Deleted measures (6)

#### 2021–22 Corporate Plan Measure

Two measures considered too low level, internal monitoring project/program management processes

- 76. Regulatory activities undertaken under the Protection of Movable Cultural Heritage Act 1986 (p. 59)
- 80. Donations and bequests reported by arts and culture charities (p. 60)

Three measures the department had limited to no control over the outcome or data was not available or reliable

- 72. Artbank operations, number of (p. 57):
  - a) artworks purchased
  - b) artworks leased
  - c) clients
- 79. Contribution of cultural and creative sectors to the economy (p. 60)
- 83. Engagement with the national cultural institutions, indicated through (p. 61):
  - a) number of in-person visits to engage with national collecting institutions (including on and off-site visits)
  - b) percentage of objects in national collections accessible online
  - c) number of web visits to the national cultural institutions
#### 2021–22 Corporate Plan Measure

#### One program terminated during the prior period

77. Number and proportion of Australian community radio licence holders receiving Community Broadcasting Program funding (p. 59)

## Significant contributors

Portfolio entities	Contribution
Australia Council **	The Australia Council is the Australian Government's principal arts investment, development and advisory body
Australian Broadcasting Corporation and Special Broadcasting Services **	Provides broadcasting services as the Australian national broadcasters and delivers Australian content and diversity
Australian Communications and Media Authority (ACMA) *	Contributes and assists the development of Australian Government policy through research, compliance reporting and practical advice as the media regulator. Implements and administers regulation
Australian Film, Television and Radio School **	Delivers industry-relevant and future-focussed education and training to Australia's established and emerging screen and broadcast industry talent
Australian National Maritime Museum **	Delivers the Maritime Museums of Australia Project Support Scheme program, which provides grants to regional museums and organisations involved in the preservation of Australia's maritime history, on behalf of the Australian Government
National Library of Australia **	Delivers the Community Heritage Grants program, which provides grants to support community organisations look after Australian cultural heritage collections, on behalf of the Australian Government
Screen Australia **	Contributes to policy development. Administers funds and incentives, and builds skills and capability within the industry

\* Non-corporate Commonwealth entity

\*\* Corporate Commonwealth entity

Significant contributors	Contribution
Australian Children's Television Foundation	Contributes to policy development. Invests in the development, production and distribution of Australian children's content ensuring young audiences continue to access high quality Australian stories across a range of platforms
Australian Institute of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Studies	Collects and maintains materials documenting the oral and visual traditions and histories of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people
Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade	Engages with international organisations to promote Australia's creative sector and national copyright interests internationally. Also provides policy advice on our international commitments in relation to the operation of services in Australia's creative sector
First Languages Australia	Works to ensure the strength of all Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander languages
National Indigenous Australians Agency	Leads and coordinates policy development, program design and implementation, and service delivery for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people



## Governance, integrity and risk



### Governance

Our governance committees oversee key areas of our strategy and operations, and support the Secretary in his role as the Accountable Authority. Our committees address matters of strategic importance including direction setting, achievement of priorities, management of risks and stakeholder relationships, as well as daily departmental business and oversight of operational matters. Together they focus on building organisational capability and culture.

#### Figure 2: Governance structure at 1 July 2022



## Integrity

Integrity is fundamental to maintaining trust and confidence in everything we do. We are committed to upholding our reputation for high levels of professionalism, accountability and ethical behaviour.

We are investing in a pro-integrity culture that promotes the importance of maintaining high professional and ethical standards and contributes to improved performance, transparency and accountability. We are developing an integrity framework to ensure we have the policies, procedures and training to guide and support our people, enhance their capability and effectively manage our risks.

During 2022–23 we will implement our integrity framework by reviewing and updating our supporting policies, guidelines and procedures and engaging with our people to promote and enhance our pro-integrity culture.

## **Fraud Control Plan**

We are committed to preventing, detecting and investigating fraud and pursuing appropriate remedies (including prosecution) and recovery action, in accordance with the Commonwealth Fraud Control Plan.

Our department's Fraud Control Plan provides an overview of how fraud and corruption risks will be managed and ensures compliance with the requirements of the Commonwealth Fraud Control Framework. We do not tolerate fraud or corruption and take all reasonable steps to prevent, detect, and respond to fraud.

## Risk oversight and management

The department engages with risk to provide advice and deliver programs, processes and services that are innovative, efficient and effective. Effective risk management improves our performance, encourages innovation and supports the achievement of our objectives.

#### Our risk management framework

We regularly review our Risk Management Policy and Framework to ensure it is fit-for-purpose. The policy and framework provide guidance to our people on managing and engaging with risk and applies to all activities, officials and contractors. It is designed to inform decision making, governance arrangements, and prioritisation of activities, resource allocation and business planning. Our governance committees play an important role in ensuring we have effective risk management practices:

- The Executive Committee determines our risk appetite and tolerance and oversees the risks which may impact our ability to achieve our purposes
- The Operations Committee supports this by overseeing our enterprise and operational risks and ensuring we have an effective risk management framework
- The Audit and Risk Committee provides advice to the Secretary and senior executives on the appropriateness of the department's system of risk oversight and our strategies to manage key risks.

Our people – at every level and on every day – are responsible for identifying, assessing, reporting and managing risk.

A positive risk culture promotes an open and proactive approach to risk management and we are committed to improving our risk culture and capability. During 2022–23, we will continue to deliver training and guidance to ensure risk management is part of our core skills and promote positive risk behaviours. Our Chief Risk Officer will continue to work closely with the Secretary and our Risk Champion to promote a positive risk culture, mature our capability and implement our risk culture and awareness strategy.

### Our risk appetite and tolerance

The department has developed risk appetite and tolerance statements to manage categories of risk. Risk appetite and tolerance statements assist us in our decision-making and help us to determine our approach to controlling risks and prioritising resources.

The department's risk appetite statement is:

We recognise it is not possible, or necessarily desirable, to eliminate all of the risks inherent in our work. Accepting some degree of risk in our business practices promotes efficiency and innovation. The department is willing to accept higher levels of risk when the potential benefits outweigh the negative consequences of risks. In doing so, we must be able to demonstrate that we have made informed, evidence and risk-based decisions. The department's risk appetite and tolerance statements by risk category are described in the following table:

Appetite is shown by the navy line. Tolerance is shown by the grey block.

Risk categories			/ toler				
and sub- categories	Low		Mod Hig		gh	Appetite / Tolerance statement	
	1	2	3	4	5		
People							
Workforce			t			The department is committed to building a capable, professional and responsive workforce which enables the department to deliver on its priorities. We have a <b>moderate risk appetite</b> for risks to the department's skills, knowledge and expertise and will continue to proactively invest in our people.	
						We have a <b>low tolerance</b> for ongoing staff under-performance.	
Work Health and Safety	ļ					The department is committed to providing a safe workplace for all employees, visitors and contractors that is free, where reasonably practicable, from physical or psychological harm. We will maintain a proactive focus on mitigating risks and promote best-practice risk management. We <b>will not tolerate</b> death or serious injury and will take all reasonable steps to prevent these.	
Governance							
Integrity and fraud						The department recognises that there is a risk of fraud and corruption within our activities. We have a <b>very low appetite</b> for unethical behaviour and we <b>will not tolerate</b> fraud or corruption. We will take all reasonable steps to prevent, detect and respond to fraud.	
Legal and compliance						The department is committed to a high level of compliance with relevant legislation, regulation, best practice as well as internal policies and governance requirements. We have a <b>low risk appetite</b> where we have taken all reasonable steps to understand the legislative environment that we operate in. We <b>will not tolerate</b> deliberate or purposeful violations of legislative or regulatory requirements. We have a <b>moderate tolerance</b> for non-compliance with internal policies and procedures in specific circumstances where this would avoid adverse or unintended consequences.	
Financial and resources	ļ					The department is committed to managing public resources efficiently, effectively, economically and ethically. We have a <b>very</b> <b>low risk appetite</b> related to financial management. We have a <b>very low tolerance</b> for systemic control failures or breakdowns and unexplained variances to administered finances.	
Information, systems and security		•				The department invests in processes, systems and technology that are fit-for-purpose and enable the department to achieve its purposes and objectives in an effective and efficient manner. We have a <b>low risk appetite</b> related to security risks, information management processes and systems to support business requirements. We take a strong, risk-managed approach to security that matches the threat environment for both physical and information security. We have a <b>very low tolerance</b> for practices that result in critical business failure, unmanageable information security breaches, encourage loss or unauthorised disclosure of sensitive information, or system unavailability beyond the agreed disaster recovery/business continuity recovery times.	

Risk	Risk Appetite categories		/ toler	ance	level			
and sub- categories	Lo	Low		Hi	gh	Appetite / tolerance statement		
	1	2	3	4	5			
Performance	Performance / delivery							
						The department engages with risk in order to take innovative approaches to policy development. We take risks commensurate with the complexity and uncertainty of the problem. We develop policy and provide advice based on evidence, data and research.		
Policy development and advice				I		We have a <b>high risk appetite</b> related to identifying, proposing and deploying innovative approaches or new ideas that support the achievement of our purposes, where we have appropriately scoped issues, engaged with key internal and external stakeholders and adequately considered the associated risks and benefits. We have a <b>very low tolerance</b> for advice that is inaccurate, misleading or in any way undermines the department's integrity or reputation for providing reliable and high-quality advice.		
Business outcomes (program, project, service delivery)			ł			The department is committed to delivering high-quality business outcomes and we aim to improve outcomes through ongoing monitoring of performance and evaluation. The department has a <b>moderate risk appetite</b> in the pursuit of innovation to achieve business outcomes, where reasonable steps have been taken to implement effective governance arrangements. We have a <b>very</b> <b>low tolerance</b> for non-delivery and expect that delivery risks will be identified, managed and, where needed, escalated to ensure appropriate visibility.		
Regulatory						The department is committed to maintaining effective and efficient regulatory frameworks that are fit-for-purpose, proportionate to risk, and continuous improvement. We use a risk-based approach to monitoring and compliance activities with a focus on achieving good, practical outcomes. We have a <b>moderate appetite</b> for regulatory risks and we have a <b>low tolerance</b> for systemic non-compliance with regulation.		
Territory Operations						The department is committed to providing good legal and governance frameworks, comparable services to mainland Australia, and essential infrastructure for the territories. We have a <b>moderate</b> <b>risk appetite</b> for service delivery and we have a <b>low tolerance</b> for risks to community wellbeing.		

Appetite is shown by the navy line. Tolerance is shown by the grey block.

Risk	Арр	etite	/ toler	ance	level	as shown by the grey block.	
categories and sub- categories	Lo	Low		Hi	igh	Appetite / tolerance statement	
	1	2	3	4	5		
Reputation							
Ministers		l				The department is committed to upholding our reputation for integrity and providing professional, impartial and reliable advice and support to our Ministers and their offices. We have <b>very low</b> <b>tolerance</b> for reputational damage resulting from poor advice or support and behaviours that call into question the integrity of the department.	
Stakeholders						Our relationships with stakeholders supports our policy development and helps us to achieve our purposes and objectives. Open discussions are critical to designing our policy and regulatory approaches. It is important we understand the different perspectives of our stakeholders, even where we do not agree. We have a <b>moderate to high risk appetite</b> for reputational damage arising from policy differences where we have engaged openly and robustly in a professional manner. We have a <b>low tolerance</b> for policy and regulatory approaches that are designed without meaningful stakeholder engagement.	
Other government (local, state, territory, federal)						Effective relationships across all levels of government are critical to our success as we rely on state, territory and local governments as our delivery partners. In particular, maintaining productive relationships with state and territory officials is a very high priority for the department and we have a <b>low tolerance</b> for behaviour that is likely to damage these relationships. We recognise that the Australian Government's priorities and interests may not always align with the interests of other government entities, including the states and territories. We will engage with honesty, respect and courtesy, but robustly, while maintaining the integrity of our relationships. We have a <b>moderate risk appetite</b> for reputational damage arising from policy differences where we have engaged openly and robustly in a professional manner.	

Appetite is shown by the navy line. Tolerance is shown by the grey block.



## Our enterprise risks

Enterprise risks	Management strategies
We do not have the capability or capacity to achieve our purposes or meet emerging	Our business planning and budgeting processes assist the executive to align people and resources with areas of greatest priority. We use agile work practices and deploy taskforces and short-term project
priorities	teams to bring necessary expertise and resourcing to our priority areas.
We do not establish and maintain resilient, secure, efficient, fit-for-purpose, and effective IT systems and services	Our IT systems and services are regularly reviewed to ensure they are resilient, effective, efficient, and meet our business requirements. Our business planning is used to inform IT systems and services design. We monitor the internal and external environments to identify potential threats and opportunities for improvement.
We are not influential and fail to steer and anticipate policy	We maintain close engagement with our Ministers and key external stakeholders to ensure outputs align with government priorities.
direction and communicate objectives, benefits and progress	We monitor relevant market and sector developments, and provide early advice to government on risks, opportunities and relevant policy options.
We do not deliver effective and efficient programs and services and outcomes are not aligned	We engage with our external and internal stakeholders and delivery partners. We invest in our people, our systems and our processes to ensure our programs are effective and efficient.
with policy objectives	Our governance committees and executive monitor program alignment with government policy. Our business plans link policy objectives with program outcomes and include corresponding performance measures.
We are not an effective regulator	The department has transparent processes and documentation to inform regulated organisations of their obligations, and to monitor compliance.
Our activities, or lack of appropriate action, cause death or serious injury	Policies are regularly updated and performance plans include mandatory work health and safety deliverables. We maintain regular engagement with health and safety representatives through the department's workplace health and safety committee and address issues promptly. Work health and safety training is mandated for our people.
We do not effectively engage with key stakeholders and consumers	We actively seek diverse views and the department engages regularly with key stakeholders—including Ministers, Commonwealth, state and territory agencies and industry stakeholders—to deliver government priorities.
We do not act with integrity and public and government trust is reduced	Relevant policies, procedures and Accountable Authority Instructions are periodically reviewed. Our fraud control plan and fraud risk assessment are reviewed every 2 years, or when significant changes occur.
Death or serious injury (including mental health injuries) associated with the department's operations, programs or regulation, including those delivered by third parties	We maintain regular engagement with our internal and external stakeholders and delivery partners to ensure that work health and safety concerns are discussed and issues are addressed promptly.



## Planning and reporting framework

Our internal and external planning and reporting activities provide information on our resourcing, operations and performance, which support the achievement of our outcomes and purposes. The relationship between these activities is illustrated in the diagram on the next page. The framework allows us to set out what we plan to do at the beginning of the year and what we have achieved by the end of the year, but also to think longer-term and plan for the future.







# Our organisational culture and capability



04

•

Our strategic objectives are to serve the government of the day, with a focus on improving the lives and opportunities of the Australian community by:

## **Connecting Australians**

Enrichi Comm

## ng unities

## **Empowering Regions**

## **Our people**

90

Building the capability and culture of our workforce is essential to ensuring we are equipped to perform and excel in delivering on the department's strategic objectives.

## **Our values**

Our values were brought together through identifying the skills, capabilities, characteristics and behaviours that are valued across our department. Together as a department we have identified 5 values that encapsulate the behaviours and professional capabilities needed for our success:



**Collaborative** — we work together and with others across the system, to achieve our objectives and deliver for the Australian community **Respectful** — we create diverse teams and a respectful and inclusive culture that supports high performance, innovation and the wellbeing of all people across the department



**Informed** — we have the expertise, knowledge and skills that we need to succeed, and we have good communication practices Adaptive — we are constantly learning and adapting to improve what we do and we have corporate systems in place to support staff in a rapidly changing world Accountable — we are rewarded and trusted to deliver, we are held accountable for the results and delivering with integrity, and we celebrate our success.

## **APS values**

We will also continue to align with the APS Values which articulate the parliament's expectations of public servants in terms of performance and standards of behaviour. These principles of good public administration embodied in the APS Values are embedded in how we operate on a daily basis:

**Impartial** — The APS is apolitical and provides the government with advice that is frank, honest, timely and based on the best available evidence

**Committed to service** — The APS is professional, objective, innovative and efficient, and works collaboratively to achieve the best results for the Australian community and the government Accountable — The APS is open and accountable to the Australian community under the law and within the framework of Ministerial responsibility

**Respectful** — The APS respects all people, including their rights and their heritage

**Ethical** — The APS demonstrates leadership, is trustworthy, and acts with integrity, in all that it does.

### **People capability**

Much like the environment around us, we are continually adapting our way of working to best position ourselves as a flexible, adaptable, capable, responsive and agile workforce now and into the future.

Through COVID-19, natural disasters, and changing operating environments, our people have experienced many challenges and rapid change. These events have further highlighted the need for our workforce to be responsive, flexible and agile. We embedded new ways of working, adapted the way we learn and apply these new skills and experiences, and we continued to foster an inclusive culture, underpinned by our values and our organisational objectives. As we move forward, it is critical that we focus on embedding the learnings from these experiences, ensuring we are preparing our workforce for the future and supporting the department's strategic objectives of connecting Australians, enriching communities and empowering regions.

Our workforce plan will play a key role in further understanding and planning for what our people will need to work effectively over the next 4 years. The workforce plan will identify the broad skills and capability that will help us to deliver our departmental objectives and identify actions to help us maintain our focus on developing, attracting and retaining these capabilities. The workforce plan will inform a range of strategies to ensure we have the workforce we need to deliver into the future, including the

92

development of new strategies focussed on:

- Attracting and retaining the right people
- Monitoring the health and wellbeing of our workforce
- Our employee value
   proposition
- Leadership capability
- Talent identification and management
- Ensuring our learning and development opportunities are innovative and focused on developing the capability we will need in the future
- The values-based culture of our organisation
- Flexibility within our workforce and new ways of working and operating.

The shifting operating environment has presented an opportunity to be innovative in how we meet capability requirements and development needs. Our Learning Strategy is one such innovative way through which we are further enhancing the capability of our organisation, and highlighting the strategic areas of focus into the future, providing a pathway for continued organisational success. The Learning Strategy is based on our vision for a culture of continuous learning which is engaging, accessible, valuable and relevant to us.

The Learning Strategy focuses on:

- Reinforcing key organisation capabilities
- Enhancing core public sector skills
- Building on in-house specialist skills, specific to both our organisation and the relevant job families
- Developing leadership and management capabilities
- Learning on-the-job
- Our learner needs
- Roles in learning

Performance management is also a focus as we continue to modernise and innovate, to ensure our people fully contribute and position the department for the future. Over the coming 12 months, we will continue to refine and promote a high-performance culture through ongoing and constructive conversations.

We are committed to providing a safe and healthy work environment for our people. Our focus remains on continuous improvement of our Work Health and Safety Management System, providing our people an understanding of their responsibilities under the Work Health and Safety Act 2011 and empowering them with tools and resources to meet their obligations.



### **Diversity and inclusion**

We recognise and value diversity as our strength and we promote a culture of inclusion to enhance our work performance and the wellbeing of everyone.

The department's Diversity Champion provides strategic oversight, leadership support, learning and advocacy for diversity and inclusion across the department and chairs the department's Diversity and Inclusion Committee (the Committee).

The Committee provides strategic advice and leadership to achieve impactful and sustainable cultural change, and comprises 7 dedicated SES Champions and 6 staff representatives, who advocate and promote the benefits that diversity and inclusion bring to the workplace and its culture.

The Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2021–2024 provides a high-level and aspirational vision for our department and supports the daily demonstration of a diverse and inclusive work environment. The Diversity and Inclusion Strategy is focused on people being respected, feeling connected, being able to fully contribute and having opportunities to develop within our department. Diversity and inclusion are at the core of our workplace and culture and we have set some ambitious goals and targets to make our department an employer of choice for all diversity groups, where everyone feels safe, supported and respected.

This includes our Mental Health and Wellbeing Framework, which focuses our ongoing commitment to protect and support our staff with maintaining their health and wellbeing in the workplace. Through this framework we will create an even better workplace, where everyone continues to feel safe, engaged and valued.

We are committed to recognising the wealth of knowledge Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff contribute to our department. Our Innovate **Reconciliation Action Plan** (RAP) brings practical actions that will drive our contribution to reconciliation, and aims to enhance and build meaningful and beneficial relationships in partnership with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. Our RAP is supported by an Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander **Employment and Retention** Strategy 2020–22 which is designed to achieve a sustainable increase in the representation of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff across our workforce to 5% by December 2022 and maintained across the next 4 years.

Through this strategy, we are committed to 3 critical areas of focus:

 Creating, increasing and sustaining employment opportunities

- Providing meaningful career pathways and capability development opportunities
- Building and sustaining a culturally capable and culturally safe workplace.

Australia's Disability Strategy 2021-2031 (the Strategy) is the overarching framework for inclusive policies, programs and infrastructure that will support people with disability to participate in all areas of Australian life. The Strategy sets out where practical changes will be made to improve the lives of people with disability in Australia. It acts to ensure the principles underpinning the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities are incorporated into Australia's policies and programs that affect people with disability, their families and carers. All levels of government have committed to deliver more comprehensive and visible reporting under the Strategy. A range of reports on progress of the Strategy's actions and outcome areas will be published and available at https://www.disabilitygateway. gov.au/ads

Disability reporting is included in the Australian Public Service Commission's State of the Service reports and the APS Statistical Bulletin. These reports are available at http://www.apsc.gov.au

The department supports 6 employee-led diversity networks, each with a specific area of focus and supported by a dedicated SES Champion.

Each of these networks has an area of focus providing staff with professional and social networking, support, learning and advocacy.



Gender Equality Network (GEN) - men, women and gender non-binary



Indigenous Staff Network (ISN) – Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people



**Disability and Allies Network** (DAN) – people with disability and carers

**Cultural and Linguistic Diversity** Network (CALD Network) racial, cultural, linguistic and religious diversity



Pride and Allies Network (PAN) - Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans, Queer, Intersex, Asexual and people with other gender and sexual identities (LGBTQIA+)



Mental Health and Wellbeing Network (MHWN) - networking, support learning and advocacy relating to mental health and wellbeing

## Policy and program capability

Our policy and program capabilities enables us to deliver consistently high-quality advice to governments over time and is key to our effectiveness as an organisation. The department will continue to focus on building and refining our capabilities to meet the needs of government and of the Australian people.

We will continue to enhance our subject matter expertise, take an evidenced-based approach to policy and program capability development, and engage closely with subject-matter experts and our partners to provide the best policy advice available and build trust and credibility.

We are focussed on providing timely, robust and influential policy and program capability advice informed by high-quality data, underpinned by best-practice tools and processes.

## **Regulatory performance**

We are committed to a regulatory stewardship approach to ongoing regulatory reform, guided by the updated <u>Regulator Performance Guide</u>. The department continues to host a Regulators Community of Practice and 'Fireside Chats' to help build regulator capability and share best practice. The department reports to the Secretaries Board with an up-to-date, rich picture of the ways the department and its portfolio entities are easing the cost of doing business to support recovery from COVID–19 and natural disasters. Our intent is to reduce compliance burden, including implementing a 'tell us once' policy where possible and appropriate. For example, our Vehicle Safety Policy and Partnerships branch is conducting public consultation to explore an 'opt-out' approach for Australian Design Rules, whereby international vehicle standards would be deemed as national vehicle standards in Australia upon entering into force internationally.

In line with the transition to reporting approach, the 2022–23 Corporate Plan includes performance information in respect to the department's regulatory functions, with reference to the best practice principles. We work to ensure that regulations and how they are administered is fit-for-purpose, and implemented in a way that maintains critical safeguards while reducing the regulatory burden. We seek to adhere to the following principles:

- 1. Continuous improvement and building trust: regulators adopt a whole-of-system perspective, continuously improving their performance, capability and culture to build trust and confidence in Australia's regulatory settings.
- 2. Risk based and data driven: regulators manage risks proportionately and maintain essential safeguards while minimising regulatory burden, and leveraging data and digital technology to support those they regulate to comply and grow.
- 3. Collaboration and engagement: regulators are transparent and responsive communicators, implementing regulations in a modern and collaborative way.

## **Financial management**

## Sound financial management continues to be central to the department's performance, stewardship and accountability.

The finance branch continues to provide strategic advice to the Secretary, and the Executive, Operations and Audit and Risk Committees. As part of this the department is committed to enhancing the financial delivery model to better align and support program and service delivery areas, enabling more flexibility and the ability to respond rapidly to changing environments, meeting the demands of the Australian community.

The following principles underpin the delivery of these financial services:

#### FINANCIAL & BUDGER ARISTED PARTNER Vision Our vision is to be a Stategic financial trusted and reliable financial advisor to deliver Continuous improvement valued financial services, through professional delivery, strategic advice and expertise to support the department's outcomes customer service Delivery Seamless. and the second s of service Aim We aim to provide REPORTING & ANALYSIS financial services through a strong understanding of Accurate and timely the business to position the department, Ministers' Value-for-money Offices and portfolio BUSINES agencies to achieve their respective strategic financial management and budget outcomes

#### Figure 4: Financial management framework

#### **Operating principles**

- Provide customer focused services
- Effectively communicate and close the loop
- Be proactive, responsive and professional
- Share knowledge and listen to each other
- Treat information sensitively
- Be transparentOpen to change and
- Open to change and champion new ways of working
- Treat everyone with kindness and respect

## **ICT capability**

Information Communication Technology (ICT) is one of the key facilitators of the department's performance. ICT provides opportunities to incrementally improve achievement of our purposes, enabling faster data analysis, improved public outreach and a highly mobile workforce.

We continue to mature our resilience and disaster response capabilities. As a minimum, we ensure measures are in place to keep our data safe, secure and accessible.

The department's Technology Strategy 2021–26 provides high-level guidance on the way we will use technology to enable the delivery of high-value services and support to the Australian community, industry and the Commonwealth over the next 5 years and beyond.

#### Principles

#### Principle 1 – Person Centred

We include people at the heart of our decisions, and focus on technology that makes things easier for our staff and our customers



#### Principle 2 – Data Driven

We recognise the important role of information and data in driving business change, and we enable business insights through greater use of emerging technologies and data approaches

#### **Principle 3 – Consolidated Services**

We consolidate our services onto common, re-usable, resilient, platforms that increase productivity, reduce duplication and waste, and maximise our investments

#### Principle 4 – Secure By Design

We safeguard our information, our systems, and our services by making security a fundamental element of our technology designs and choices

#### Principle 5 – Prepared for Disruption

Our technology approaches allow us to pivot and adapt to unforeseen circumstances, and we reduce our dependency on legacy systems and single-points-of-failure



#### **Focus Areas**

#### Mobility, Connectivity and

**Collaboration** – A workforce that is connected and can operate productively from anywhere using fit-for-purpose technology

#### Professional Workforce -

Reliable and responsive workforce, able to support business needs. Transparent, accountable, and proactive. Able to anticipate the needs of business and deliver innovative solutions

#### Enterprise Platforms –

Leveraging whole-of-government and commercial platforms to speed up our ability to deliver. Platforms that enable maximum re-use, are simpler and quicker to deliver on, and reduce cost by minimising duplication

#### Security and Stability -

Robust, reliable, and resilient ICT services and systems, protected from cybersecurity threats and malicious attacks

#### Digital Accessibility -

Increasingly able to support a digital working environment for our staff and our clients. Our data assets are an enterprise asset that has value and is able to deliver business insight



## Data capability

Our work depends greatly on our ability to harness the power of data. We use data to build our evidence base to provide advice, deliver programs, services and fit-for-purpose regulation which is central to good decision making. The department's Data Strategy 2021–24 outlines key initiatives and commits to actions to improve our capability to access timely, high-quality data.

The strategy identifies 3 strategic objectives that go to embedding **best practice data governance and management**, having the right **ICT platforms and tools**, and growing our data **culture and capability**. It commits to actions to achieve these objectives. Among these, we will update and improve our data asset register, further develop RADAR – Ready Access to Data, Analytics and Reporting – as our enterprise data management system, and strengthen data skills across the organisation.

#### **Delivery actions** Strategic objectives **Best-practice governance** Embed a best-practice data management and management framework Update and improve our data asset Enrich data quality and value register to users Establish metadata standards Transparency in use of our Implementation and evaluation activities Create best-practice datasets data assets Manage risks to preserve Embed fit for purpose data sharing Better access to timely, high quality data by the Enterprise Data Management Board privacy and security agreements Establish a governance framework Develop Monitoring and Evaluation **Our data vision ICT platforms and tools** Provide self-service GIS tools More accessible analytical tools • Systems and tools enable data-driven decision-making Increase the use and functionality of and improved delivery of our RADAR to meet business needs functions Increase use of location data Reduce barriers to data sharing Promote rewards and recognition **Culture and capability** Create a data community of practice Target learning and development to lift data Department continues to champion capability **APS-wide** initiatives • Foster a data culture where More data skills training collaboration inspires Increased networking and skills sharing innovation and productivity • Promote and grow the Include data skills in position descriptions data agenda

#### Figure 5: Data Strategy Framework

## Compliance with Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Rule 2014

Торіс	Matters to be included	Page no.
Introduction	<ul><li>The following:</li><li>a) a statement that the plan is prepared for paragraph 35(1)(b) of the Act;</li><li>b) the reporting period for which the plan is prepared;</li><li>c) the reporting periods covered by the plan.</li></ul>	6 – 7
Purposes	The purposes of the entity	9
Key Activities	For the entire period covered by the plan, the key activities that the entity will undertake in order to achieve its purposes.	10 - 101
Operating context	<ul> <li>For the entire period covered by the plan, the following:</li> <li>a) the environment in which the entity will operate;</li> <li>b) the strategies and plans the entity will implement to have the capability it needs to undertake its key activities and achieve its purposes;</li> <li>c) a summary of the risk oversight and management systems of the entity, and the key risks that the entity will manage and how those risks will be managed;</li> <li>d) details of any organisation or body that will make a significant contribution towards achieving the entity's purposes through cooperation with the entity, including how that cooperation will help achieve those purposes;</li> <li>e) how any subsidiary of the entity will contribute to achieving the entity's purposes.*</li> </ul>	10 - 101
Performance	<ul> <li>For each reporting period covered by the plan, details of how the entity's performance in achieving the entity's purposes will be measured and assessed through:</li> <li>a) specified performance measures for the entity that meet the requirements of section 16EA**;</li> <li>b) specified targets for each of those performance measures for which it is reasonably practicable to set a target.</li> </ul>	10 - 101

\* We do not have subsidiary entities.

\*\* 16EA of the <u>PGPA Rule</u> states that performance measures must: relate directly to one or more purposes or key activities; use sources of information and methodologies that are reliable and verifiable; and provide an unbiased basis for the measurement and assessment of the entity's performance; and where reasonably practicable, comprise a mix of qualitative and quantitative measures; and include measures of the entity's outputs, efficiency and effectiveness if those things are appropriate measures of the entity's performance; and provide a basis for an assessment of the entity's performance over time.

## Image credits

Cover:	Aerial view sea port warehouse and container ship or crane ship working for delivery containers shipment. Container ship loading and unloading in deep sea port. Getty Images. See also page 3 / 74.
	Australia, Arnhemland National Park, Aborigine bark painting. Getty Images. See also page 3 / 16.
	NBN Satellite Ground Station Kalgoorlie. Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development, Communications and the Arts. See also page 52.
Page 2:	Business people standing in the fast moving crowds of commuters. Getty Images. See also page 4.
Page 3:	Aerial view of Sydney International Airport, Australia. Getty Images. See also page 86 / 104.
Page 7:	National Aboriginal Islander Skills Development Association Dance College, yadhaba ngura—Get Well Land 2021. Photo: Courtesy of Lisa Haymes.
Page 14:	NSW, Queanbeyan Railway Station. Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development, Communications and the Arts.
Page 18:	Hand of man inserting a power cord into an electric car for charging ecofriendly vehicle on green landscape. Getty Images.
Page 37:	Pacific Highway—Harwood Bridge, Woolgoolga to Ballina. Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development, Communications and the Arts.
Page 47:	Aerial shot of the Bunjil Geoglyph in the You Yangs in Victoria, Australia. Getty Images.
Page 57:	Australian representatives engaging at the World Telecommunications Standardization Assembly (WTSA) in Geneva, March 2022. Photo: Courtesy of Nicola Bennett.
Page 61:	Close up of an Australian News television camera filming a public event. Getty Images.
Page 62:	Synthony concert, Melbourne, 2021. Photo: Courtesy of Duco Events.
Page 71:	Visitors enjoy the National Portrait Gallery. Photo: Courtesy of Mark Mohell.
Page 82:	Group of Children Playing Badminton in the Park. Getty Images.
Page 84:	Image of waterfront in Adelaide, SA. Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development, Communications and the Arts.
Page 93:	2021 Revealed Exhibition at Fremantle Arts Centre, install view. Featuring artworks by Tjarlirli Artists' Pantjiti McKenzie, Rosaland Yibardi, Mary Gibson, Ms M. Porter and Maime Giles; Wangaba Roebourne Art Group's Nana Pansy Hicks; and Warakurna Artists' Dorcas Bennett. Image courtesy of Fremantle Arts Centre. Photography by Pixel Poetry.
Page 100:	Woman making a presentation in a business meeting. Getty Images.

•

